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PRELIMINARY NOTE

	   We are amending our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter ended June 30, 2004, by reformatting certain
tables in the financial statements included in the report. We have not amended any of the data in those tables or made
any other substantive change in the report.

PART I: FINANCIAL INFORMATION

NEW YORK MORTGAGE TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

June 30,
2004

December 31,
2003

(Unaudited)

ASSETS

Cash and equivalents
$
116,048,638

$
4,357,069

Restricted cash 100,434 217,330

- 3,278,753
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Marketable securities

Due from loan purchasers 101,069,701 58,862,433

Loans held for sale 50,684,361 36,258,229

Prepaid and other assets 7,515,954 5,075,937

Property and equipment, net 2,271,395 2,031,697

TOTAL ASSETS
$
277,690,483

$
110,081,448

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

LIABILITIES:

Financing arrangements
$
144,558,947

$
90,425,133

Due to loan purchasers 927,640 753,720

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 9,236,762 4,277,241

Subordinated notes due to members - 14,706,902

Other liabilities 986,016 392,077

Total liabilities 155,709,365 110,555,073

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note
6)

SHAREHOLDERS'/MEMBERS' EQUITY
(DEFICIT):
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Common shares, $0.01 par value,
400,000,000 shares authorized;

18,162,125 and 17,797,375 shares
issued and outstanding,
respectively, at June 30, 2004 180,621 -

Additional paid-in capital 123,236,740 -

Members' deficit - (1,338,625)

Accumulated deficit (1,665,475) -

Accumulated other comprehensive income 229,232 865,000

Total shareholders'/members' equity
(deficit) 121,981,118 (473,625)

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND
SHAREHOLDERS'/MEMBERS' EQUITY

$
277,690,483

$
110,081,448

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

NEW YORK MORTGAGE TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(unaudited)

For the Six Months Ended
June 30,

For the Three Months
EndedJune 30,
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2004 2003 2004 2003

REVENUE:

Gain on sales of mortgage
loans

$ 10,451,171 $ 11,547,911
$ 6,945,080 $ 6,790,049

Interest income 3,146,847 3,521,997 1,885,779 2,090,999

Brokered loan fees 2,960,473 2,866,647 777,695 1,580,880

Miscellaneous income 45,977 29,464 30,208 (4,727)

Total revenue
16,604,468 17,966,019

9,638,762 10,457,201

EXPENSES:

Salaries, commissions and
benefits

6,890,838 3,854,662
4,171,660 2,133,344

Interest expense 1,814,640 1,458,952 1,206,029 807,448

Brokered loan expenses 2,119,522 2,022,607 835,303 1,159,493

Occupancy and equipment 1,537,517 728,144 875,987 398,937

Marketing and promotion 1,296,391 424,341 812,105 220,283

Data processing and
communications

621,236 293,272
453,193 159,431

Office supplies and expenses 647,240 382,219 429,369 224,365

Professional fees 653,754 414,866 400,666 180,364

Travel and entertainment 305,275 322,622 116,927 143,678

Depreciation and
amortization

205,906 135,506
102,953 67,753

Income and other taxes 174,332 158,020 48,657 153,412

Other 528,739 79,029 494,339 45,354

Total expenses
16,795,390 10,274,240

9,947,188 5,693,862

NET (LOSS) INCOME
FROM OPERATIONS (190,922) 7,691,779 (308,426) 4,763,339
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Loss on sale of securities 175,682 - 175,682 -

NET (LOSS) INCOME $ (366,604) $ 7,691,779 $ (484,108) $ 4,763,339

Basic and diluted loss per
share

$ (0.02) $ -
$ (0.03) $ -

Weighted average shares
outstanding-basic and diluted 17,797,375 - 17,797,375 -

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

NEW YORK MORTGAGE TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(unaudited)

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2004 2003

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Net (loss) income
$ (366,604)

$ 7,691,779

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net
cash used in operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization
205,906

135,506

175,682 -
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Loss on sale of securities

Origination of mortgage loans held for sale
(619,969,756)

(796,710,533)

Proceeds from sales of mortgage loans
605,774,982

774,289,616

Vesting of restricted shares-compensation
expense

1,326,375

-

Change in value of free standing derivatives
220,521

(213,519)

(Increase) decrease in operating assets:

Restricted cash
116,896

(4,566)

Due from loan purchasers
(42,207,268)

(43,830,224)

Due from affiliate
153,171

-

Prepaid expenses and other assets
(1,147,648)

(1,265,119)

Increase (decrease) in operating liabilities:

Due to loan purchasers
173,920

(281)

Accounts payable and accrued expenses
4,959,521

927,298

Other
152,832

(122,319)

Net cash used in operating activities
(50,431,470)

(59,102,362)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Purchase of securities
-

(835,193)

2,320,414 -
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Sale of securities

Purchases of property and equipment
(445,604)

(483,741)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing
activities

1,874,810

(1,318,934)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Proceeds from issuance of common stock
123,116,740

-

Increase in financing arrangements, net
54,133,815

62,453,303

Payments on subordinated notes due to members
(13,706,902)

-

Cash distributions to members
(3,295,424)

(1,791,475)

Net cash provided by financing activities
160,248,229

60,661,828

NET INCREASE IN CASH 111,691,569 240,532

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - Beginning of
period

4,357,069
2,746,477

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - End of period $ 116,048,638 $ 2,987,009

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE

Cash paid for interest
$ 1,635,826

$ 1,369,700

NON CASH FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Reduction of subordinated notes due to members
$ 1,000,000

$ -
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Grant of restricted stock $ 3,709,125 $ -

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

NEW YORK MORTGAGE TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2004 (Unaudited)

1.	Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

   Organization

- New York Mortgage Trust, Inc. ("NYMT" and the "Company") is a fully integrated, self-advised residential
mortgage finance company formed as a Maryland Corporation in September 2003. The Company earns net interest
income from purchased residential mortgage-backed securities and adjustable-rate mortgage loans and securities
originated through its wholly owned subsidiary, The New York Mortgage Company, LLC ("NYMC"). The Company
will also earn net interest income from its investment in and planned securitization of self-originated mortgage loans
that meet the Company's investment criteria. The Company also originates and sells to third parties fixed rate
mortgages and mortgages that do not meet its investment criteria for retention in its portfolio. Licensed or exempt
from licensing in 37 states and through a network of 30 loan origination offices, NYMC originates all types of
mortgage loans, with a primary focus on prime, residential mortgage loans.

   On January 9, 2004, the Company capitalized New York Mortgage Funding, LLC ("NYMF") as a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company. In June 2004, the Company sold 15 million shares of its common stock in an initial public
offering ("IPO") at a price to the public of $9.00 per share, for net proceeds of approximately $122 million after
deducting the underwriters' discount and other offering expenses. Concurrent with the Company's IPO, the Company
issued 2,750,000 shares of common stock in exchange for the contribution to the Company of 100% of the equity
interests of NYMC. Subsequent to the IPO and the contribution of NYMC, the Company has 18,162,125 shares issued
and 17,797,375 shares outstanding. Prior to the IPO, NYMT did not have recurring business operations.

   The Company is organized and conducts its operations to qualify as a real estate investment trust ("REIT") for
federal income tax purposes. As such, the Company will generally not be subject to federal income tax on that portion
of its income that is distributed to shareholders if it distributes at least 90% of its REIT taxable income to its
shareholders by the due date of its federal income tax return and complies with various other requirements.

   As of June 30, 2004, NYMC had $16.5 million in equity and NYMF had $275,000 in equity.

   As used herein, references to the "Company," "NYMT," "we," "our" and "us" refer to New York Mortgage Trust,
Inc. collectively with its subsidiaries.

Edgar Filing: NEW YORK MORTGAGE TRUST INC - Form 10-Q/A

10



Basis of Presentation ' The combination of the Company and NYMC is accounted for as a transfer of assets
between entities under common control. Accordingly, the Company has recorded assets and liabilities transferred
from NYMC at their carrying amounts in the accounts of NYMC at the date of transfer. The consolidated financial
statements include the accounts of the Company subsequent to the IPO and also include the accounts of NYMC and
NYMF prior to such date.

   Of the 2,750,000 shares exchanged for the equity interests of NYMC, 100,000 of these shares will be held in escrow
through December 31, 2004 and will be available to satisfy any indemnification claims the Company may have for
losses incurred as a result of defaults on any residential mortgage loans originated by NYMC and closed prior to the
completion of the IPO.

   The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared without audit and in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) for interim financial information
and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Rule 10-01 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all of the
information and footnotes required by GAAP for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, the
financial statements contain all adjustments (consisting of only normal recurring adjustments) necessary to present
fairly the financial statements of the interim periods. However, given the seasonal nature of our business, the
operating results for the interim periods may not be indicative of the results for the full year. Certain information and
footnote disclosures normally included in the annual consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with
GAAP have been condensed or omitted. The consolidated financial statements of the Company include the accounts
of all wholly owned subsidiaries. Intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
Operating results for the six-month period ended June 30, 2004 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may
be expected for a full year. These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company's registration
statement on Form S-11 (File No. 333-111668), which was declared effective by the Securities and Exchange
Commission on June 23, 2004.

Use of Estimates - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. The Company's estimates and assumptions primarily arise from risks and uncertainties associated
with interest rate volatility, prepayment volatility, credit exposure and regulatory changes. Although management is
not currently aware of any factors that would significantly change its estimates and assumptions in the near term,
future changes in market conditions may occur which could cause actual results to differ materially.

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, amounts due from banks and
overnight deposits. Restricted cash represents amounts held in escrow on behalf of borrowers.

Marketable Securities - Marketable securities included debt and equity securities and investment grade
mortgage-backed securities classified as available for sale. Marketable securities are carried at fair value with
unrealized gains and losses reported in other comprehensive income. Realized gains and losses on marketable
securities occurring from sales of such investments are determined using the specific identification method.

Loans Held for Sale - Loans held for sale represent originated mortgage loans held for sale to third party investors.
The loans are initially recorded at cost based on the principal amount outstanding net of deferred direct origination
costs and fees. The loans are subsequently carried at the lower of cost or market value. Market value is determined by
examining outstanding commitments from investors or current investor yield requirements calculated on the aggregate
loan basis.

Property and Equipment - Property and equipment has lives ranging from three to seven years, and is stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation is provided in amounts sufficient to relate the cost of
depreciable assets to operations over their estimated service lives using the straight-line method. Leasehold
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improvements are amortized over the lesser of the life of the lease or service lives of the improvements using the
straight-line method. Depreciation and amortization are recorded within occupancy and equipment expense in the
financial statements.

  Derivative Financial Instruments

- The Company has developed risk management programs and processes, which include investments in derivative
financial instruments, designed to manage market risk associated with its mortgage banking and its mortgage-backed
securities investment activities.

   All derivative financial instruments are reported as either assets or liabilities in the balance sheet at fair value. The
gains and losses associated with changes in the fair value of derivatives not designated as hedges are reported in
current earnings. If the derivative is designated as a fair value hedge and is highly effective in achieving offsetting
changes in the fair value of the asset or liability hedged, the recorded value of the hedged item is adjusted by its
change in fair value attributable to the hedged risk. If the derivative is designated as a cash flow hedge, the effective
portion of change in the fair value of the derivative is recorded in other comprehensive income ("OCI") and is
recognized in the income statement when the hedged item affects earnings. Ineffective portions of changes in the fair
value of cash flow hedges are recognized in earnings.

   In accordance with a Staff Accounting Bulletin 105 ("SAB 105") issued by the Securities and Exchange
Commission on March 9, 2004, beginning in the second quarter of 2004, the fair value of IRLCs should exclude
future cash flows related to servicing rights, if such rights are retained upon the sale of originated mortgage loans,
(See Note 10).

Risk Management - Derivative transactions are entered into by the Company solely for risk management purposes.
The decision of whether or not an economic risk within a given transaction (or portion thereof) should be hedged for
risk management purposes is made on a case-by-case basis, based on the risks involved and other factors as
determined by senior management, including the financial impact on income, asset valuation and restrictions imposed
by the Internal Revenue Code among others. In determining whether to hedge a risk, the Company may consider
whether other assets, liabilities, firm commitments and anticipated transactions already offset or reduce the risk. All
transactions undertaken to hedge certain market risks are entered into with a view towards minimizing the potential
for economic losses that could be incurred by the Company. Under SFAS No. 133, the Company is required to
formally document its hedging strategy before it may elect to implement hedge accounting for qualifying derivatives.
This documentation was completed in the third quarter of 2003. Accordingly, all qualifying derivatives entered into
after July 1, 2003 are intended to qualify as fair value, or cash flow hedges, or free standing derivatives intended to act
as economic hedges under FAS 133. To this end, terms of the hedges are matched closely to the terms of hedged items
with the intention of minimizing ineffectiveness. Prior to July 1, 2003, all derivatives entered into by the Company
were treated as free-standing derivatives, with changes in fair value charged to interest expense.

   In the normal course of its mortgage loan origination business, the Company enters into contractual interest rate lock
commitments to extend credit to finance residential mortgages. These commitments, which contain fixed expiration
dates, become effective when eligible borrowers lock-in a specified interest rate within time frames established by the
Company's origination, credit and underwriting practices. Interest rate risk arises if interest rates move between the
time of the lock-in of the rate by the borrower and the sale of the loan. Under SFAS No. 133, the interest rate locks are
considered undesignated or free-standing derivatives. Accordingly, IRLCs are recorded at fair value with changes in
fair value recorded to current earnings. Mark to market adjustments on IRLCs are recorded from the inception of the
interest rate lock through the date the underlying loan is funded. The fair value of the IRLCs is determined by the
interest rate differential between the contracted loan rate and the currently available market rates as of the reporting
date. Beginning in the second quarter of 2004, the fair value of IRLCs are valued in accordance with SAB 105.
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   To mitigate the effect of the interest rate risk inherent in providing IRLCs from the lock-in date to the funding date
of a loan, the Company generally enters into forward sale loan contracts ("FSLC"). Because the FSLCs are committed
prior to loan funding and thus there is no owned asset to hedge, the FSLCs in place prior to the funding of a loan are
undesignated derivatives under FAS 133 and are marked to market through current earnings.

   Derivative instruments contain an element of risk in the event that the counterparties may be unable to meet the
terms of such agreements. The Company minimizes its risk exposure by limiting the counterparties to those major
banks, investment bankers and private investors who meet established credit and capital guidelines. Management does
not expect any counterparty to default on its obligations and, therefore, does not expect to incur any loss due to
counterparty default. These commitments and option contracts are considered in conjunction with the Company's
lower of cost or market valuation of its mortgage loans held for sale.

   The Company uses other derivative instruments, including treasury, agency or mortgage-backed securities/notes
forward sale contracts which are also classified as free-standing, undesignated derivatives and thus are recorded at fair
value with the changes in fair value recorded to current earnings.

   Once a loan has been funded, the Company's risk management objective for its mortgage loans held for sale is to
protect earnings from an unexpected charge due to a decline in value. The Company's strategy is to engage in a risk
management program involving the designation of FSLCs (the same FSLCs entered into at the time of rate lock) to
hedge most of its loans held for sale. Provided that the FSLCs were entered into after July 1, 2003, and have been
designated as qualifying hedges for the funded loans and the notional amount of the forward delivery contracts, along
with the underlying rate and critical terms of the contracts, are equivalent to the unpaid principal amount of the
mortgage loan being hedged, the forward delivery contracts effectively fix the forward sales price and thereby offset
interest rate and price risk to the Company. Accordingly, the Company evaluates this relationship quarterly and
classifies and accounts for the FSLCs as fair value hedges.

Interest Rate Risk - The Company may hedge the aggregate risk of interest rate fluctuations with respect to its
borrowings, regardless of the form of such borrowing, which require payments based on a variable interest rate index.
The Company generally intends to hedge only the risk related to changes in the benchmark interest rate (LIBOR or a
Treasury rate).

   In order to reduce such risks, the Company may enter into swap agreements whereby the Company would receive
floating rate payments in exchange for fixed rate payments, effectively converting the borrowing to a fixed rate. The
Company may also enter into cap agreements whereby, in exchange for a fee, the Company would be reimbursed for
interest paid in excess of a certain capped rate.

   To qualify for cash flow hedge accounting, interest rate swaps and caps must meet certain criteria, including:

The items to be hedged expose the Company to interest rate risk;♦ 

The interest rate swaps or caps are expected to be and continue to be highly effective in reducing the
Company's exposure to interest rate risk.

♦ 

   Correlation and effectiveness are periodically assessed at least quarterly based upon a comparison of the relative
changes in the fair values or cash flows of the interest rate swaps and caps and the items being hedged.

   For derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as a cash flow hedge (i.e. hedging the exposure to
variability in expected future cash flows that is attributable to a particular risk), the effective portion of the gain or
loss, and net payments received or made, on the derivative instrument are reported as a component of other
comprehensive income and reclassified into earnings in the same period or periods during which the hedged
transaction affects earnings. The remaining gain or loss on the derivative instrument in excess of the cumulative
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change in the present value of future cash flows of the hedged item, if any, is recognized in current earnings during the
period of change.

   With respect to interest rate swaps and caps that have not been designated as hedges, any net payments under, or
fluctuations in the fair value of, such swaps and caps, will be recognized currently in income.

   Derivative financial instruments contain credit risk to the extent that the issuing counterparties may be unable to
meet the terms of the agreements. The Company minimizes such risk by using multiple counterparties and limiting its
counterparties to major financial institutions with investment grade credit ratings. In addition, the potential risk of loss
with any one party resulting from this type of credit risk is constantly monitored. Management does not expect any
material losses as a result of default by other parties.

Termination of Hedging Relationships - The Company employs a number of risk management monitoring
procedures to ensure that the designated hedging relationships are demonstrating, and are expected to continue to
demonstrate, a high level of effectiveness. Hedge accounting is discontinued on a prospective basis if it is determined
that the hedging relationship is no longer highly effective or expected to be highly effective in offsetting changes in
fair value of the hedged item.

   Additionally, the Company may elect to de-designate a hedge relationship during an interim period and re-designate
upon the rebalancing of a hedge profile and the corresponding hedge relationship. When hedge accounting is
discontinued, the Company continues to carry the derivative instruments at fair value with changes in their value
recorded in earnings.

Gain on Sale of Loans - The Company recognizes gain on sale of loans for the difference between the sales price
and the adjusted cost basis of the loans when title transfers. The adjusted cost basis of the loans includes the original
principal amount adjusted for deferrals of origination and commitment fees received, net of direct loan origination
costs paid.

Loan Origination Fees and Direct Origination Cost - The Company records loan fees, discount points and certain
incremental direct origination costs as an adjustment of the cost of the loan and such amounts are included in gain on
sales of loans when the loan is sold. Accordingly, salaries, compensation and benefits and commission costs have
been reduced due to incremental direct loan origination costs, by approximately $9,472,159 and $7,498,491 for the
six-month periods ended June 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Brokered Loan Fees and Expenses - The Company records commissions associated with brokered loans when such
loans are closed with the borrower. Costs associated with brokered loans are expensed when incurred.

Loan Commitment Fees

- Fees received for guaranteeing the funding of mortgage loans to borrowers at pre-set conditions are deferred and
recognized at the earlier of the date at which the commitment expires or the loan is sold.

Interest Recognition - The Company accrues interest income as it is earned. Loans are placed on a nonaccrual status
when any portion of the principal or interest is 90 days past due or earlier when concern exists as to the ultimate
collectibility of principal or interest. Loans return to accrual status when principal and interest become current and are
anticipated to be fully collectible. Interest expense is recorded on outstanding lines of credit at a rate based on a spread
to LIBOR.
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Employee Benefits Plans - The Company sponsors a defined contribution plan (the "Plan") for all eligible domestic
employees. The Plan qualifies as a deferred salary arrangement under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code.
Under the Plan, participating employees may defer up to 25% of their pre-tax earnings, subject to the annual Internal
Revenue Code contribution limit. The Company matches contributions up to a maximum of 25% of the first 5% of
salary. Employees vest immediately in their contribution and vest in the Company's contribution at a rate of 25% after
two full years and then an incremental 25% per full year of service until fully vested at 100% after five full years of
service. The Company's total contributions to the Plan were $79,063 and $64,392 for the six months ended June 30,
2004 and 2003, respectively.

Marketing and Promotion - The Company charges the costs of marketing, promotion and advertising to expense in
the period incurred.

Income Taxes - We operate so as to qualify as a REIT under the requirements of the Internal Revenue Code (the
Code). Requirements for qualification as a REIT include various restrictions on ownership of the Company's stock,
requirements concerning distribution of taxable income and certain restrictions on the nature of assets and sources of
income. A REIT must distribute at least 90% of its taxable income to its stockholders of which 85% must be
distributed within the taxable year in order to avoid the imposition of an excise tax. The remaining balance may
extend until timely filing of our tax return in the subsequent taxable year. Qualifying distributions of taxable income
are deductible by a REIT in computing taxable income.

   NYMC is a taxable REIT subsidiary and is therefore subject to corporate income taxes. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement
carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax base. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary
differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax
rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. At June 30, 2004, deferred tax assets and
liabilities are immaterial.

   Prior to the IPO, the Company was not a taxpaying entity for Federal or state income tax purposes, and accordingly,
no provision is made for income taxes.

Earnings Per Share - Basic earnings per share excludes dilution and is computed by dividing net income available
to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding for the period.
Diluted earnings per share reflects the potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue
common stock were exercised or converted into common stock or resulted in the issuance of common stock that then
shared in the earnings of the Company.

2.	Loans Held For Sale

   Mortgage loans held for sale consist of the following as of June 30, 2004 and December 31, 2003:

June 30,
2004

December 31,
2003

Mortgage loans principal amount $ 50,156,412 $ 36,168,003

Deferred origination costs/(fees) - net 244,468 1,304

Edgar Filing: NEW YORK MORTGAGE TRUST INC - Form 10-Q/A

15



Hedging basis adjustments 283,481 88,922

Loans held for sale $ 50,684,361 $ 36,258,229

3.	Property and Equipment - Net

   Property and equipment consist of the following as of June 30, 2004 and December 31, 2003:

June 30, 2004 December 31, 2003

Office and computer equipment $ 1,697,165 $ 1,433,700

Furniture and fixtures 867,121 721,966

Leasehold improvements 826,709 789,725

Total premises and equipment 3,390,995 2,945,391

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (1,119,600) (913,694)

Property and equipment - net $ 2,271,395 $ 2,031,697

4.	Derivative Assets and Liabilities

   The following table summarizes derivative assets and liabilities as of June 30, 2004 and December 31, 2003:

June 30, 2004 December
31, 2003

Derivative Assets:

Forward loan sale contracts - loans held for sale (included in
other assets)

$
363,604,

$
-
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Interest rate lock commitments (included in other assets) - 227,513

Total derivative assets $ 363,604, $ 227,513

Derivative Liabilities:

Forward loan sale contracts - loan commitments
$

(29,034)
$

(133,682)

Interest rate lock commitments - loans held for sale (257,257) -

Forward loan sale contracts - loans held for sale - (6,579)

Forward loan sale contracts - TBA securities (416,327) (121,250)

Total derivative liabilities $ (702,618) $ (261,511)

   Derivative liabilities of $283,481 and $88,922 are included in the balance sheets in loans held for sale as of June 30,
2004 and December 31, 2003, respectively. The remaining liabilities related to derivatives are included in other
liabilities.

5.	Financing Arrangements

   Financing arrangements consist of the following as of June 30, 2004, and December 31, 2003:

June 30, 2004 December 31, 2003

$100 million master repurchase agreement with
Greenwich Capital Financial Products, Inc. initially
expiring August 31, 2004 bearing interest at
one-month LIBOR plus spreads from 1.125% to
2.000% depending on collateral (2.53% at June 30,
2004). Principal repayments are required 90 days
from the funding date(a) $ 82,217,339 $ 72,461,446
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$100 million revolving line of credit initially
expiring January 8, 2005 bearing interest at daily
LIBOR plus 0.90% (2.03% at June 30, 2004).
Principal repayments are required 90 days from the
funding date(a) 25,978,122 -

$50 million revolving line of credit which expires on
June 29, 2005 bearing interest at one-month LIBOR
plus 1.25% (2.364% at March 31, 2004) 36,363,486 14,966,814

$15 million revolving line of credit (terminated and
syndicated into $50 million revolving line above)
bearing interest at the lesser of LIBOR plus 1.5% or
the prime rate - 2,996,873

$ 144,558,947 $ 90,425,133

__________

(a)	The credit facility requires the Company to transfer specific collateral to the lender under repurchase
agreements; however, due to the rate of turnover of the collateral by the Company, the counterparty has not
taken title to or recorded their interest in any of the collateral transferred. Interest is paid to the counterparty
based on the amount of outstanding borrowings based on the terms provided.

   The lines of credit are secured by all of the mortgage loans of the Company. The lines contain various covenants
pertaining to maintenance of net worth and working capital.

6.	Commitments and Contingencies

Loans Sold to Investors - Generally, the Company is not exposed to significant credit risk on its loans sold to
investors. In the normal course of business, the Company is obligated to repurchase loans which are subsequently
unable to be sold through its long-term contractual investor channels. Historically the repurchase percentage has been
less than 0.02% of loans sold. Such loans are then repackaged and sold to non-traditional investors.

Loans Funding and Delivery Commitments - At June 30, 2004 and at December 31, 2003 the Company had
commitments to fund loans with agreed-upon rates totaling $215,729,994 and $71,375,732, respectively. The
Company hedges the interest rate risk of such commitments and the recorded loans held for sale balances primarily
with FSLCs, which totaled $134,986,507 and $54,522,057 at June 30, 2004 and December 31, 2003, respectively. The
remaining commitments to fund loans with agreed-upon rates are anticipated to be sold through optional delivery
contracts investor programs. The Company does not anticipate any material losses from such sales.

Net Worth Requirements - NYMC is required to maintain certain specified levels of minimum net worth to
maintain its approved status with Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, HUD and other investors. At December 31, 2003, the
highest minimum net worth requirement applicable to the Company was $250,000. As of December 31, 2003, the
Company had an equity deficit of $473,625. Certain parties provided waivers to their minimum net worth
requirements as they considered the distribution the Company made to its members in the form of subordinate
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promissory notes of $14,706,902 as a form of equity. Subsequent to December 31, 2003, NYMT recapitalized NYMC
with cash contributions of equity of approximately $16.5 million. As of June 30, 2004 NYMC is in compliance with
all minimum net worth requirements.

Outstanding Litigation - The Company is involved in litigation arising in the normal course of business. Although
the amount of any ultimate liability arising from these matters cannot presently be determined, the Company does not
anticipate that any such liability will have a material effect on the Company's financial statements.

7.	Related Party Transactions

   Upon completion of the Company's IPO and acquisition of NYMC, Steven B. Schnall and Joseph V. Fierro, the
predecessor owners of NYMC, were entitled to a distribution of NYMC's retained earnings, not to exceed $4,500,000
through the close of the Company's IPO on June 29, 2004. As a result, a distribution of $2,409,322 ($409,323 of
retained earnings as of March 31, 2004 plus an estimate of $2,000,000 for NYMC's earnings through June 29, 2004)
was made to the predecessor owners upon the close of the IPO. The subsequent earnings and elimination of
distributions and unrealized gains and losses attributable to NYMC for the period prior to June 29, 2004 equated to a
distribution overpayment of $1,309,448 which is included in "prepaid and other assets" on the Company's balance
sheet as of June 30, 2004. Immediately upon the finalization of the overpayment calculation in July 2004, Messrs.
Schnall and Fierro reimbursed the Company for the over-distribution.

   Steven B. Schnall owns a 48% membership interest and Joseph V. Fierro owns a 12% membership interest in
Centurion Abstract, LLC, which provides title insurance brokerage services for certain title insurance providers. From
time to time, NYMC refers its mortgage loan borrowers to Centurion Abstract, LLC for assistance in obtaining title
insurance in connection with their mortgage loans, although the borrowers have no obligation to utilize Centurion's
services. When NYMC's borrowers elect to utilize Centurion's services to obtain title insurance, Centurion collects
various fees and a portion of the title insurance premium paid by the borrower for its title insurance. Centurion
Abstract received $278,924 in fees and other amounts from NYMC borrowers for the six months ended June 30, 2004.

   Steven B. Schnall owns 4.25% of Restaurant.com, and has no active participation. Two employees from
Restaurant.com currently rent space from NYMC and pay rent on a month to month basis. For the six months ended
June 30, 2004, the Company has collected $10,500 in rental income.

8.	Concentrations of Credit Risk

   The Company has originated loans predominantly in the eastern United States. Loan concentrations are considered
to exist when there are amounts loaned to a multiple number of borrowers with similar characteristics, which would
cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly impacted by economic or other conditions. At June
30, 2004 and December 31, 2003 and 2002, there were geographic concentrations of credit risk exceeding 5% of the
total loan balances within loans held for sale as follows:

June
30,
2004

2003

New
York 54.6% 82.8%
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New
Jersey

23.7%
If you provide specific voting instructions, your shares will be voted as instructed.  If you
hold shares in your name and submit a valid proxy without giving specific voting
instructions, your shares will be voted as recommended by our Board of Directors.  If you
hold your shares in your name and do not return valid proxy instructions or do not vote in
person at the Annual Meeting, your shares will not be voted.  If you hold your shares in
the name of a bank, broker, or other nominee, and you do not give that nominee
instructions on how you want your shares to be voted, the nominee has the authority to
vote your shares on the ratification of the appointment of KPMG LLP as independent
auditor.  However, as previously discussed, the nominee will not be permitted to vote
your shares on the election of directors, the advisory vote on executive compensation, or
the advisory vote on the frequency of future advisory votes on executive compensation.

Giving the Board your proxy also means that you authorize their representatives to vote
on any other matter that may be properly presented at the Annual Meeting in such manner
as they determine best.  The Company does not know of any other matters to be presented
at the Annual Meeting as of the date of this Proxy Statement.

What Vote is Needed

Our Articles of Incorporation provide that directors are elected by a majority of the votes
cast by the shares entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting.  Although abstentions and
broker “non-votes” will be counted for purposes of determining whether there is a quorum
(as discussed previously), they will not be counted as votes cast in the election of
directors and thus will not have the effect of votes for or against any director.

With respect to the election of directors, shareholders of the Company, or their proxy if
one is appointed, have cumulative voting rights under the laws of the State of
Nebraska.  That is, shareholders, or their proxy, may vote their shares for as many
directors as are to be elected, or may cumulate such shares and give one nominee as many
votes as the number of directors to be elected multiplied by the number of their shares, or
may distribute votes on the same principle among as many nominees as they may
desire.  If a shareholder desires to vote cumulatively, he or she must vote in person or give
his or her specific cumulative voting instructions to the designated proxy that the number
of votes represented by his or her shares are to be cast for one or more designated
nominees.  Cumulative voting is not available for internet voting.

A majority of votes cast at the meeting is required to approve Proposals 2 and 3 (ratifying
the appointment of KPMG LLP, and approving the advisory resolution on executive
compensation, respectively).  Although abstentions and broker “non-votes” will be counted
for purposes of determining whether there is a quorum (as discussed previously), they will
not be counted as votes cast with respect to Proposals 2 and 3 and thus will not have the
effect of votes for or against Proposals 2 and 3.

With respect to Proposal 4 (the advisory vote on the frequency of future shareholder
advisory votes on executive compensation), shareholders may indicate which of three
frequency options (every one year, every two years, or every three years) they prefer, or
they may abstain from casting a vote on this proposal.  Generally, approval of a matter
presented to our shareholders requires a majority of votes cast at the meeting.  However,
because Proposal 4 is advisory and non-binding, if none of the frequency options receives
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a majority of the votes cast, the option receiving the greatest number of votes will be
considered the frequency recommended by our shareholders.  Although abstentions and
broker “non-votes” will be counted for purposes of determining whether there is a quorum
(as discussed previously), they will not be counted as votes cast with respect to Proposal 4
and thus will not have an effect on the determination of the frequency option
recommended by our shareholders.

Voting Recommendations

The Company’s Board of Directors recommends that you vote:

• “FOR” each of the nominees to the Board of Directors

•“FOR” ratification of the appointment of KPMG LLP as the Company’s independent
registered public accounting firm for 2011

4
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•“FOR” the approval of the compensation of the Company’s named executive officers, as
disclosed in this Proxy Statement

•“EVERY ONE YEAR” (as opposed to every two years or every three years) as the
preferred frequency for future advisory votes on executive compensation

A proxy, when properly executed and not revoked, will be voted in accordance with the
authorization and instructions contained therein.  Unless a shareholder specifies
otherwise, all shares represented will be voted in accordance with the recommendations of
the Company’s Board of Directors.

Voting Results

The preliminary voting results will be announced at the Annual Meeting.  The final voting
results will be reported in a current report on Form 8-K to be filed within four business
days after the Annual Meeting date.

Cost of This Proxy Solicitation

The Company will pay the cost of soliciting proxies, including the preparation, assembly,
and  fu rn i sh ing  o f  p roxy  so l i c i t a t ion  and  o the r  r equ i red  annua l  mee t ing
materials.  Directors, officers, and regular employees of the Company may solicit proxies
by telephone, electronic communications, or personal contact, for which they will not
receive any additional compensation in respect of such solicitations.  The Company will
also reimburse brokerage firms and others for all reasonable expenses for furnishing
proxy solicitation and other required annual meeting materials to beneficial owners of the
Company's stock.

PROPOSAL 1 - ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Nominees

Shareholders are asked to elect eight directors to serve on the Board for a one-year term
or until their successors are elected or appointed.

Upon the recommendation of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of
the Board, the Board has nominated each of the current directors for reelection.

The Board of Directors recommends that shareholders vote FOR the election of each
nominee (named below) to the Board of Directors.

In the event that any nominee becomes unavailable for election for any reason, the shares
represented by proxy will be voted for any substitute nominees designated by the Board,
unless the proxy does not indicate that the shares are to be voted for all nominees. The
Board of Directors knows of no reason why any of the persons nominated to be directors
might be unable to serve if elected, and each nominee has consented to and expressed an
intention to serve if elected. There are no arrangements or understandings between any of
the nominees and any other person pursuant to which any of the nominees was selected as
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a nominee.

Following are the names of the eight nominees to serve as director, together with: their
ages, the year during which they were first elected a director of the Company, their
principal occupation(s) and any other directorships with publicly-held companies (if
applicable) during the past five years, and each nominee’s qualifications to serve as a
director.

5
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Name, Age, and
Service as a
Director

Michael S. Dunlap,
47
Director since
January 1996

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Nelnet, Inc.
· Chairman, Nelnet, Inc., March 2000 to present; Chief
Executive Officer, May 2007 to present and December 2001 –
August 2003; Co-Chief Executive Officer, August 2003 –
May 2007; President, December 2001 – August 2003;
Chairman of the Company’s predecessor in interest, January
1996 – March 2000
· Co-President and Director,  Farmers & Merchants
Investment Inc. (“F&M”), the parent of Union Bank and Trust
Company (“Union Bank”), January 2007 – present; President
and Director, January 1995 – January 2007 (F&M is an
affiliate of the Company)
· Non-Executive Chairman, Union Bank, August 2003 –
November 2008; Chief Executive Officer, January 2001 –
August 2003; Executive Vice President, January 1993 –
January 2001 (Union Bank is an affiliate of the Company)

Mr. Dunlap’s qualifications include more than 25 years of
experience in the areas of banking and financial services,
leadership, strategic operations, and management, including
as one of our co-founders and our Chief Executive Officer
and Chairman since the Company’s inception, as well as his
experience as a member of the boards of directors of
numerous other private organizations.  Mr. Dunlap’s
knowledge of every part of our business and his intense
focus on innovation and excellence are keys to our Board’s
success.

S t e p h e n  F .
Butterfield, 58
Director since
January 1996

Vice-Chairman, Nelnet, Inc.
· Vice-Chairman, Nelnet, Inc., March 2000 – present;
Co-Chief Executive Officer, August 2003 – May 2007;
Vice-Chairman of the Company’s predecessor in interest,
January 1996 – March 2000
· President, Student Loan Acquisition Authority of Arizona,
January 1989 – February 2000

Mr. Butterfield’s qualifications include more than 35 years of
experience in the areas of student loans, capital markets, and
municipal finance, including as one of our co-founders and a
member of our Board since the Company’s inception, as well
as his knowledge and understanding of leadership and
organizational dynamics.

James P. Abel, 60
Director since

Chief Executive Officer, NEBCO, Inc.
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August 2003 · Chief Executive Officer, NEBCO, Inc., a company with
interests in the manufacture of concrete building materials,
road construction, insurance, mining, railroading, farming,
and real estate, 2004 – present; President and Chief Executive
Officer, 1983 – 2004
· Chairman of the Board of Directors, UNIFI Mutual Holding
Company; Director, Ameritas Holding Company and
Ameritas Life Insurance Corp. UNIFI Mutual
HoldingCompany is the parent company and owns Ameritas
Holding Company. Ameritas Holding Company, in turn,
owns 100 percent of the stock of Ameritas Life Insurance
Corp. These entities offer a wide range of insurance and
financial products and services to individuals, families, and
businesses.

Mr. Abel’s qualifications include his experience on boards of
directors of other private companies and his demonstrated
executive leadership abilities and management experience as
Chie f  Execu t ive  Of f i ce  o f  a  complex  d ive r s i f i ed
organization, as well as his knowledge of operations, all of
which give him critical insights into the operational
requirements of the Company.

Kathleen A. Farrell,
47
Director since
October 2007

Professor of Finance and Associate Dean of Academic
Programs, University of Nebraska-Lincoln
· Professor of Finance, University of Nebraska-Lincoln,
August 2009 – present
· Associate Dean of Academic Programs, August 2010 -
present
·  As soc i a t e  P ro f e s so r  o f  F inance ,  Un ive r s i t y  o f
Nebraska-Lincoln, 2002 – July 2009
·  As s i s t a n t  P r o f e s so r  o f  F i n ance ,  Un ive r s i t y  o f
Nebraska-Lincoln, August 1993 – 2001

Dr. Farrell’s qualifications include her expertise in corporate
finance, executive turnover, and executive compensation,
and her prior experience as an auditor at a public accounting
firm.  Dr. Farrell has achieved designation as a Certified
Public Accountant (inactive), has nearly 18 years experience
teaching university courses in the areas of banking and
finance, and has conducted extensive research on these
topics.  Dr. Farrell has also published articles on these topics
in numerous scholarly journals.

6
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Name, Age, and
Service as a
Director

Principal Occupation(s), Other Directorships, and
Qualifications

Thomas E. Henning,
58
Director since
August 2003

President and Chief Executive Officer, Assurity Security
Group, Inc. and its subsidiary, Assurity Life Insurance
Company
· President and Chief Executive Officer, Assurity Security
Group, Inc. and its subsidiary, Assurity Life Insurance
Company, which offers a variety of disability income and
critical illness protection, life insurance, and annuity
products, 1990 – present
· Director, Federal Home Loan Bank Topeka, March 2007 –
present. The Federal Home Loan Bank Topeka is part of the
12 member Federal Home Loan Bank system. The bank
serves the states of Oklahoma, Kansas, Nebraska, and
Colorado and provides liquidity to member institutions to
assist in financing real estate.
· Director, Assurity Advisors (previously named Pine Lake
Advisors), a registered investment advisory company,
January 1998 – April 2008

Mr. Henning’s qualifications include over 20 years of
experience as President and Chief Executive Officer of a
large insurance company, his prior experience as President of
a regional bank, his financial expertise, including being a
Certified Financial Analyst, his experience in risk assessment
and management, and his vast knowledge and experience in
leadership and management.

Brian J. O’Connor,
55
Director since
August 2003

Senior Vice-President, Hutchinson, Shockey, Erley & Co.
· Senior Vice-President, Hutchinson, Shockey, Erley & Co.,
which underwrites and trades securities for various local
governments, 1997 – present

Mr. O’Connor’s qualifications include over 25 years of
experience in investment banking, public and structured
finance, his extensive knowledge of financial and accounting
matters, which allowed him to acquire numerous securities
licenses, and his past experience as a board member and
committee chair of another public company.

Kimberly K. Rath,
50
Director since
October 2007

Managing Director and President, Talent Plus, Inc.
· Managing Director and President, Talent Plus, Inc., a global
human resources consulting firm, July 1989 – present
· Senior Consultant, The Gallup Organization, 1982 – 1989
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Ms. Rath’s qualifications include almost 30 years of
experience in the field of human resources, with expertise in
executive development, employee engagement, and human
capital management.  Ms. Rath also has 22 years of
experience leading an international executive management
consulting and training organization, working with major
global companies.  Ms. Rath serves as an executive strategic
advisor to many leaders across the globe in both private and
public sectors.  Ms. Rath’s experience and perspectives are
unique among our Board members.

M i c h a e l  D .
Reardon, 58
Director since
December 2003

Chief Executive Officer, Provision Communications, LLC
· Chief Executive Officer, Provision Communications, LLC,
a telecommunications company, January 2004 – present
· Chairman, Geos Communications, Inc., a publicly traded
mobile communications company, March 2010 – present;
Director, June 2009 – February 2010
· Director, HyperFlo, LLC, a manufacturer of precision
cleaning equipment, January 2010 – present; Chairman, 1997 –
2009

Mr. Reardon’s qualifications include 35 years of experience
starting and building companies from the ground up,
providing strategy, leadership, business development, and
management expertise, and dealing with financial and
operational issues in challenging environments.  Through his
roles as an executive officer and Chairman of such
companies, and his experience on the board of directors and
board committees of other public companies, Mr. Reardon
provides valuable and unique insights.

7

Edgar Filing: NEW YORK MORTGAGE TRUST INC - Form 10-Q/A

27



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics for Directors, Officers, and Employees  

The Company has a written code of business conduct and ethics that applies to all of the
Company’s directors, officers, and employees, including the Company’s Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, and is designed to promote ethical and legal
conduct.  Among other items, the code addresses the ethical handling of actual or
potential conflicts of interest, compliance with laws, accurate financial reporting, and
procedures for promoting compliance with, and reporting violations of, the code.  This
code is available on the Company’s Web site at www.nelnetinvestors.com under “Corporate
Governance” and is available in print to any shareholder who requests it.

Board Composition and Director Independence

The Board of Directors is composed of a majority of independent directors as defined by
the rules of the New York Stock Exchange. A director does not qualify as an independent
director unless the Board has determined, pursuant to applicable legal and regulatory
requirements, that such director has no material relationship with the Company (either
directly or as a partner, shareholder, or officer of an organization that has a relationship
with the Company).  The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee reviews
compliance with the definition of “independent” director annually.  Mr. Dunlap beneficially
owns 67% of the combined voting power of the Company’s shareholders.  Because of his
beneficial ownership, Mr. Dunlap can effectively elect each member of the Board of
Directors and has the power to defeat or remove each member of the Board of Directors.

In 2010, the Board evaluated commercial, consulting, charitable, familial, and other
relationships with each of its directors and entities with respect to which they are an
executive officer, partner, member, and/or significant shareholder.  As part of this
evaluation, the Board noted that none of the directors received any consulting, advisory,
or other compensatory fees from the Company (other than for services as a director) or is
a partner, member, or principal of an entity that provided accounting, consulting, legal,
investment banking, financial, or other advisory services to the Company.  Based on this
independence review and evaluation, and on other facts and circumstances the Board
deemed relevant, the Board, in its business judgment, determined that all of the
Company’s directors and nominees are independent, with the exception of Mr. Dunlap,
who is currently an employee of the Company.  Mr. Butterfield, who was an employee of
the Company through December 31, 2007, including Co-Chief Executive Officer of the
Company from August 2003 through May 2007, was determined to be independent as of
January 1, 2011.

The Company’s Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for
reviewing and approving all new transactions, and any material amendments or
modifications to existing transactions, between the Company and Union Bank or any
other affiliated party, and taking such actions as the Committee deems necessary and
appropriate in relation to such transactions, including reporting to the Board of Directors
with respect to such transactions as the Committee deems necessary and appropriate.  See
“Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.”
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Governance Guidelines of the Board

The Board’s governance is guided by the Company’s Corporate Governance Guidelines.
The Board’s current  guidelines are available on the Company’s Web si te  at
www.nelnetinvestors.com under “Corporate Governance” and are available in print to any
shareholder who requests them.  Among other matters, the guidelines provide for the
following:

• A majority of the members of the Board must be independent directors.

• All directors stand for re-election via majority vote every year.

• The Board undertakes an annual self-review.

•The Board and each Board Committee has the authority to engage independent or
outside counsel, accountants, or other advisors, as it determines to be necessary or
appropriate.  All related fees and costs of such advisors are paid by the Company.

• Board members have open communication with all members of management
and counsel.

•Non-Employee Directors meet in executive session, without the presence of
management.  Mr. O’Connor, who is chairman of the Audit Committee, currently
presides at these executive sessions.  Anyone who has a concern about the Company
may communicate that concern directly to these Non-Employee Directors.  Such
communication may be mailed to the Corporate Secretary at 121 South 13th Street,
Suite 201, Lincoln, Nebraska 68508 or anonymously submitted via the Company’s Web
site at www.nelnet.com under “Contact Us.” All such communications will be forwarded
to the appropriate Non-Employee Directors for their review.  The Non-Employee
Directors may take any action deemed appropriate or necessary, including the retention
of independent or outside counsel, accountants, or other advisors, with respect to any
such communication addressed to them.  No adverse action will be taken against any
individual making any such communication in good faith to the Non-Employee
Directors.

8
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Board Diversity

In considering whether to recommend any candidate for election to the Board, including
candidates recommended by shareholders, the Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee will apply the criteria set forth in Nelnet’s Corporate Governance
Guidelines.  These criteria include the candidate’s independence, wisdom, integrity,
understanding and acceptance of the Company’s corporate philosophy, business or
professional knowledge and experience, record of accomplishment, and willingness to
commit time and energy to the Company. Our Corporate Governance Guidelines also
specify that the value of diversity on the Board should be considered by the Nominating
and Corporate Governance Committee in the director identification and nomination
process. The Board is committed to a strong and diverse membership and a thorough
process to identify those individuals who can best contribute to the Company's continued
success. As part of this process, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee
will continue to take all reasonable steps to identify and consider for Board membership
all candidates who satisfy the business needs of the Company at the time of appointment.

The Committee seeks nominees with a broad diversity of experience, professional skills,
and backgrounds. The Committee does not assign specific weights to particular criteria
and no particular criterion is necessarily applicable to all prospective nominees. The
Company believes that the backgrounds and qualifications of the directors, considered as
a group, should provide a significant composite mix of experience, knowledge, and
abilities that will allow the Board to fulfill its responsibilities. Nominees are not
discriminated against on the basis of race, religion, national origin, sexual orientation,
disability, or any other basis proscribed by law.

The Board’s Role in Risk Oversight

Our Board of Directors oversees an enterprise-wide approach to risk management,
designed to support the achievement of organizational objectives, including strategic
objectives, to improve long-term organizational performance and enhance shareholder
value. A fundamental part of risk management is not only understanding the risks a
company faces and what steps management is taking to manage those risks, but also
understanding what level of risk is appropriate for the company in fostering a culture of
risk-aware and risk-adjusted decision-making that allows the company to avoid adverse
financial and operational impacts. The involvement of the full Board of Directors in
setting the Company’s business strategy is a key part of its assessment of management’s
appetite for risk and also a determination of what constitutes an appropriate level of risk
for the Company.

While the Board of Directors has the ultimate oversight responsibility for the risk
management process, various committees of the Board also have responsibility for risk
management. In particular, the Risk and Finance Committee assists the Board of Directors
to fulfill its responsibilities with respect to oversight of the Company’s enterprise-wide
risk management framework and oversight of the Company’s strategies relating to capital
management.  The Audit Committee focuses on the integrity of the Company’s financial
statements, system of internal controls, and policies for risk assessment and risk
management.  The Company’s Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee assists
the Board of Directors in fulfilling its oversight responsibility with respect to regulatory,
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compliance, related-party transactions, and public policy issues that affect the Company,
and works closely with the Company’s legal and policy services groups.  Finally, in setting
compensation philosophy and strategy, the Compensation Committee strives to create
incentives that encourage an appropriate level of risk-taking behavior consistent with the
Company’s business strategy. 

Board Leadership Structure

Mr. Dunlap has served the Company as both Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(co-Chief Executive Officer with Mr. Butterfield from 2003-2007) since the Company’s
inception.  The Board of Directors and management believe this structure is appropriate
for our business for a number of reasons. Mr. Dunlap is the largest single shareholder of
the Company, he is one of our co-founders, and his vision and leadership have been an
integral part of the Company’s success.  His experience in the business, as well as his high
levels of skill and integrity, are critical to our ability to be responsive to conditions in the
markets in which we operate and to our continued success.  In addition, the combined role
Mr. Dunlap plays provides the Company the benefit of singular leadership for our strategy
and vision.  Finally, the Company does not believe that separating the Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer roles necessarily guarantees better governance or the absence of
risk, and in fact can lead to confusion, inefficiencies, and unproductive conflicts.  The
Company prefers to focus instead on our Board’s overall effectiveness, and we believe Mr.
Dunlap contributes materially to that effectiveness by virtue of his combined role.
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Mr. O’Connor is currently the independent Lead Director.  Mr. Dunlap, as Chairman,
provides leadership to the Board and works with the Board to define its structure and
activities in the fulfillment of its responsibilities. In conjunction with Mr. O’Connor as the
Lead Director, Mr. Dunlap sets the Board agendas with Board and management input,
facilitates communication among directors, works with Mr. O’Connor to provide
appropriate information flow to the Board, and presides at meetings of the Board of
Directors and shareholders.   Mr. O’Connor works with Mr. Dunlap and other Board
members to provide strong, independent oversight of the Company’s management and
affairs. Among other things, Mr. O’Connor is involved in the development of Board
meeting agendas as well as the quality, quantity, and timeliness of information sent to the
Board, serves as the principal liaison between Mr. Dunlap and the independent directors,
and chairs an executive session of the Non-Employee Directors at most regularly
scheduled Board meetings.

Board Committees

The Board uses committees to assist it in the performance of its duties.  During 2010, the
standing committees of the Board were the Audit Committee, Compensation Committee,
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, Risk and Finance Committee, and
Executive Committee.  Each committee, other than the Executive Committee, is
composed entirely of independent directors.  The purposes of each committee and their
current members are set forth below.

Audit Committee - The Audit Committee operates pursuant to a formal written charter,
app roved  by  the  Board ,  wh ich  se t s  fo r th  the  commi t t ee ’ s  func t ions  and
responsibilities.  The Audit Committee Charter is posted on the Company’s Web site at
www.nelnetinvestors.com under “Corporate Governance” – “Committees” and is available in
print to any shareholder who requests it.

The Audit Committee is composed of Ms. Farrell and Messrs. Henning and O’Connor.
The Committee held nine meetings in 2010.  Each member of the Audit Committee is (1)
“independent” in accordance with the rules and regulations of the New York Stock
Exchange and the rules and regulations of the SEC and (2) sufficiently financially literate
to enable him or her to discharge the responsibilities of an Audit Committee member.  Mr.
Henning has accounting and related financial management expertise and serves as the
committee’s “audit committee financial expert,” as defined in the applicable rules and
regulations of the SEC.

The Audit Committee provides assistance to the Board of Directors in its oversight of the
integrity of the Company’s financial statements, the Company’s system of internal controls,
the Company’s policy standards and guidelines for risk assessment and risk management,
the qualifications and independence of the Company’s independent auditor, the
performance of the Company’s internal and independent auditors, and the Company’s
compliance with other regulatory and legal requirements.  The Audit Committee discusses
with management and the independent auditor the Company’s annual audited financial
statements, including the Company’s disclosures made under “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation” in its filings with the SEC,
and recommends to the Board of Directors whether such audited financial statements
should be included in the Company’s annual report on Form 10-K.  The Audit Committee
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also selects the independent auditors for the next year and presents such selection to the
shareholders for ratification.

Compensation Committee - The Compensation Committee operates pursuant to a formal
written charter, approved by the Board, which sets forth the committee’s functions and
responsibilities.  The Compensation Committee Charter is posted on the Company’s Web
site at www.nelnetinvestors.com under “Corporate Governance” – “Committees” and is
available in print to any shareholder who requests it.

The Compensation Committee is composed of Ms. Rath and Messrs. Abel and
Reardon.  The Committee held four meetings in 2010.  The members of the
Compensation Committee are (1) “independent” in accordance with the rules and
regulations of the New York Stock Exchange and the rules and regulations of the SEC,
(2) “Non-Employee Directors” as defined in Rule 16b-3 promulgated under Section 16 of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) and (3) “Outside
Directors” within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986.  The Compensation Committee oversees the Company’s compensation and benefit
policies. The Company’s compensation policies are designed with the goal of maximizing
shareholder value over the long term. The Compensation Committee believes that this
goal is best realized by utilizing a compensation program which serves to attract and
retain superior executive talent by providing management with performance-based
incentives and closely aligning the financial interests of management with those of the
Company’s shareholders.  The level of compensation is based on numerous factors,
including achievement of results and financial objectives established by the
Compensation Committee and the Board of Directors. Salary and performance payments
are reviewed regularly for competitiveness and are determined in large part by reference
to compensation levels for comparable positions at comparable companies.  See
“Executive Compensation.”

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee - The Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee operates pursuant to a formal written charter, approved by the
Board, which sets forth the committee’s functions and responsibilities.  The Nominating
and Corporate Governance Committee Charter is posted on the Company’s Web site at
www.nelnetinvestors.com under “Corporate Governance” – “Committees” and is available in
print to any shareholder who requests it.

10

Edgar Filing: NEW YORK MORTGAGE TRUST INC - Form 10-Q/A

33



The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is composed of Ms. Rath and
Messrs. Abel and Reardon.  The Committee held four meetings in 2010.  The members of
the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee are “independent” as determined in
accordance with the rules and regulations of the New York Stock Exchange and the rules
and regulations of the SEC.  The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is
responsible for identifying and recommending qualified nominees to serve on the
Company’s Board of Directors, identifying members of the Board to serve on each Board
committee, overseeing the evaluation by the Board of itself and its committees,
identifying individuals to serve as officers of the Company and recommending such
individuals to the Board, as well as developing and overseeing the Company’s internal
corporate governance processes.  The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee
reviews related party transactions in accordance with the written policies and procedures
adopted by the Board of Directors for the Committee’s review of related party
transactions, and takes such actions as the Committee deems necessary and appropriate in
relation to such transactions, including reporting to the Board of Directors with respect to
such transactions as the Committee deems necessary and appropriate.

The Company’s Corporate Governance Guidelines establish criteria for specific qualities
and skills to be considered by the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee as
necessary for the Company’s directors to possess.  These criteria include, among other
items, independence, diversity, integrity, understanding the Company’s corporate
philosophy, valid business or professional knowledge, proven record of accomplishment
with excellent organizations, ability to challenge and stimulate management, and
willingness to commit time and energy.  The Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee has been given the responsibility to take all reasonable steps to identify and
evaluate nominees for director and has adopted a policy requiring it to consider written
proposals for director nominees received from shareholders of the Company.  No such
proposals were received during 2010 from a beneficial owner of more than 5% of Nelnet’s
stock (other than current management).  There is no difference in the manner in which the
committee evaluates director nominees based on whether the nominee is recommended by
a shareholder.  All of the nominees identified in this proxy statement are up for re-election
and have been recommended by the Committee.

When seeking candidates for director, the Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee solicits suggestions from incumbent directors, management, shareholders, and
others.  The Committee has authority under its charter to retain a search firm for this
purpose.  If the Committee believes a candidate would be a valuable addition to the Board
of Directors, it recommends his or her candidacy to the full Board of Directors.

The Company’s By-Laws include provisions setting forth the specific conditions under
which persons may be nominated by shareholders as directors at an annual meeting of
shareholders.  The provisions include the condition that nominee proposals from
shareholders must be in writing and that shareholders comply with the time-frame
requirements described under “Other Shareholder Matters – Shareholder Proposals for 2012
Annual Meeting” for shareholder proposals not included in the Company’s Proxy
Statement.  A copy of such provisions is available upon written request to:  Nelnet, Inc.,
121 South 13th Street, Suite 201, Lincoln, Nebraska 68508, Attention: Corporate
Secretary.  The Company’s By-Laws are also posted on the Company’s Web site at
www.nelnetinvestors.com under “Corporate Governance” – “Corporate Documents.”
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Risk and Finance Committee - The Risk and Finance Committee operates pursuant to a
formal written charter, approved by the Board, which sets forth the committee’s functions
and responsibilities.  The Committee held three meetings in 2010.  The Risk and Finance
Committee Charter is posted on the Company’s Web site at www.nelnetinvestors.com
under “Corporate Governance” – “Committees” and is available in print to any shareholder who
requests it.

The Risk and Finance Committee is composed of Ms. Farrell and Messrs. Henning and
O’Connor.  The Risk and Finance Committee holds principal oversight responsibility with
respect to the Company’s enterprise-wide risk management framework, including the
significant strategies, policies, procedures, and systems used to identify, assess, measure,
and manage the major risks facing the Company and oversight of the Company’s material
financial matters, including capital management, funding strategy, investments, and
acquisitions that are material to the Company’s business.

Executive Committee - The Executive Committee is composed of Ms. Farrell and Messrs.
Dunlap and Henning.  The Executive Committee held no formal meetings in 2010.  The
Executive Committee, established by the Board of Directors, exercises all of the powers
of the full Board in the management of the business and affairs of the Company during
the intervals between meetings of the full Board, subject only to limitations as the Board
of Directors may impose from time to time, or as limited by applicable law.

Meetings of the Board

The Board of Directors held nine meetings in 2010.  All directors attended at least 75% of
the meetings of the Board and committees on which they serve.
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Attendance at Annual Meetings of Shareholders

The Company does not have a policy regarding director attendance at the annual meetings
of shareholders.  All directors attended the prior year’s annual meeting of shareholders.

Director Compensation Table for Fiscal Year 2010

The following table sets forth summary information regarding compensation of
Non-Employee Directors for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010.  Independent
Non-Employee Directors are compensated based on Board meeting and committee
meeting attendance.  The Company also pays an annual retainer of $60,000 to
independent Non-Employee Directors.  An additional annual retainer of $10,000 is paid to
independent Non-Employee Directors who serve as members of the Audit Committee,
Compensation Committee, Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, Risk and
Finance Committee, or Executive Committee, as applicable.  The Chairman of the Audit
Committee is paid an additional $10,000 annual retainer fee.   Mr. Dunlap, who is an
employee of the Company, does not receive any consideration for participation in Board
or committee meetings.  Mr. Butterfield, who was an employee of the Company through
December 31, 2007, was determined to be independent as of January 1, 2011 and will
begin to receive independent Non-Employee Director compensation after the May 2011
Annual Meeting.

2010 Compensation
Fees earned
or paid

Stock All other

Director
Name

in cash ($) (a) awards ($) (b) compensation
($)

Total ($)

James P.
Abel

17,000 94,092 — 111,092

Stephen F.
Butterfield

— — 21,264 (c) 21,264

Kathleen A.
Farrell

21,000 105,859 — 126,859

Thomas E.
Henning

21,000 105,859 — 126,859

Brian J.
O'Connor

21,000 105,859 — 126,859

Kimberly K.
Rath

97,000 — — 97,000

Michael D.
Reardon

17,000 94,092 — 111,092
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James H. Van Horn
(d)

2,000 — — 2,000

(a)Amount represents cash paid to independent Non-Employee Directors for attendance
at Board and committee meetings.  Independent Non-Employee Directors earn $1,000
for each Board and committee meeting attended.  Amount also includes Ms. Rath’s
annual retainer fees for 2010 ($80,000), which she elected to receive in cash.

(b)Prior to the Company’s December 2003 initial public offering of its Class A common
stock, the Board of Directors adopted, and the shareholders approved, a share-based
compensation plan for independent Non-Employee Directors pursuant to which
independent Non-Employee Directors can elect to receive their annual retainer fees in
the form of cash or in shares of the Company’s Class A common stock.  If an
independent Non-Employee Director elects to receive Class A common stock, the
number of shares of Class A common stock that will be granted will be equal to the
amount of the annual retainer fee otherwise payable in cash divided by 85% of the fair
market value of a share of Class A common stock on the date the fee is payable.
Independent Non-Employee Directors who choose to receive Class A common stock
may also elect to defer receipt of the Class A common stock until termination of their
service on the Board of Directors. Any dividends paid in respect of deferred shares
during the deferral period will also be deferred in the form of additional shares and
paid out at termination from the Board of Directors.  This plan may be amended or
terminated by the Board of Directors at any time, but no amendment or termination
will adversely affect an independent Non-Employee Director’s rights with respect to
previously deferred shares without the consent of the independent Non-Employee
Director.

Each of the Non-Employee Directors, with the exception of Ms. Rath, elected to receive
their annual retainer fees for 2010 in the form of the Company’s Class A common stock in
accordance with the provisions of this plan.  As such, the amounts under “stock awards” in
the table above represent the fair value of the stock on the date of issuance, June 25, 2010,
of $20.90 per share.  The Company uses the closing market price of the Company’s Class
A common stock on the date the annual retainer fees are payable to calculate the number
of shares to be issued under this plan.
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(c)As a non-employee strategic advisor to the Company, Mr. Butterfield receives health,
dental, and vision benefits.  During 2010, Mr. Butterfield received $6,749 from the
Company to cover the cost of his premiums related to these benefits.  The dollar value
of insurance premiums paid by the Company related to these benefits was $13,515.  In
addition, during 2010 the Company matched $1,000 in contributions by Mr.
Butterfield under the matching gift program discussed below.

(d) Mr. Van Horn resigned from the Board of Directors effective February 15, 2010.

Matching Gift Program

The Company offers a matching gift program in which all employees with at least six
months of service and all members of the Board of Directors are eligible to
participate.  Under this program, for every dollar that an employee or Board member
contributes to an eligible charitable organization or educational institution, the Company
will make matching donations of additional funds, subject to terms and conditions
applicable in an equal manner to all employees and Board members.  The total dollar
amount payable under the program is $25,000 per director or employee per calendar
year.  During 2010, the Company matched $1,000 in contributions by Mr. Butterfield
pursuant to this program.

Share Ownership Guidelines for Board Members

The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors believes that Board members
should have a significant equity interest in the Company.  In order to promote equity
ownership and further align the interests of Board members with the Company’s
shareholders, in 2005 the Committee recommended and the Board adopted Share
Ownership Guidelines for Board members.  Under these guidelines, each Non-Employee
Director is encouraged to own shares of the Company’s Class A common stock with a
value of 50% of the amount obtained by multiplying the annual retainer fee by the number
of years the Director has served.  In 2010, all Non-Employee Directors owned an amount
of shares equal to or in excess of that suggested by the guidelines.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Under the Company's By-Laws, each executive officer holds office for a term of one year
or until their successor is elected and qualified.   The executive officers of the Company
are elected by the Board of Directors at its annual meeting immediately following the
annual meeting of shareholders.

The following sets forth the executive officers of the Company, including their names,
their ages, their positions with the Company, and if different, their business experience
during the last five years.

See "Proposal 1 - Election of Directors - Nominees" for biographical information
regarding Mr. Dunlap.

Name and Age Position and Business Experience
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Todd M. Eicher, 41 ·  Executive Director, Nelnet, Inc., May 2003 – present;
Executive Director, Nelnet Enrollment Solutions LLC, a
subsidiary of Nelnet, Inc., January 2008 – present; Chief
Mergers and Acquisitions Officer, May 2005 – November
2008; Senior Vice President, July 1997 – May 2003

Terry J. Heimes, 46 ·  Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer, Nelnet,
Inc., March 2001 – present
·  Executive Vice President, National Education Loan
Network, Inc., a subsidiary of Nelnet, Inc., March 2001 –
October 2002; Vice President of Finance, October 1998 –
March 2001

William J. Munn, 43 ·  Executive Director, Corporate Secretary, Chief
Governance Officer, and General Counsel, Nelnet, Inc.,
September 2006 – present; Deputy General Counsel and
Chief Governance Officer, January 2005 – September
2006; Senior Counsel, January 2000 – December 2004;
Legal Counsel, October 1998 – December 1999

J e f f r e y  R .
Noordhoek, 45

·  President, Nelnet, Inc., January 2006 – present;
Executive Director and Capital Markets Officer, October
2002 – January 2006; Vice President, January 1996 –
March 2001
·  Senior Vice President, National Education Loan
Network, Inc., a subsidiary of Nelnet, Inc., March 2001 –
October 2002

Timothy A. Tewes,
52

·  Executive Director, Nelnet, Inc., June 2005 - present
·  President and Chief Executive Officer, Nelnet Business
Solutions, Inc., a subsidiary of Nelnet, Inc., May 2007 –
present; President, Nelnet Business Solutions - K-12
operations, June 2005 – May 2007; Executive Vice
President, FACTS Management Company, a subsidiary
of Nelnet, Inc., September 2000 – June 2005.  Mr. Tewes’
responsibilities with Nelnet Business Solutions include
oversight of an employee team of approximately 300
focused on offering actively managed tuition payment
plans, financial needs assessment, enrollment and donor
management, and campus commerce for K-12
institutions and institutions of higher education.
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EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Compensation Committee Governance

The Company’s Board of Directors has designated a Compensation Committee to assist
the Board in discharging its responsibilities relating to:

•determining and administering the compensation of the Company’s Chief Executive
Officer, Chief Financial Officer, President, and other executives of the Company

•administering certain compensation plans, including stock and incentive compensation
plans

•assessing the effectiveness of succession planning relative to the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer and other executives

•approving, reviewing, and overseeing certain other benefit plans

The Compensation Committee consists solely of independent members of the Board of
Directors.  The Compensation Committee operates under a written charter adopted by the
Board.  A committee comprised of certain members of senior management, referred to
herein as the internal committee, is also engaged, at the direction of the Compensation
Committee, in developing and recommending the Company’s compensation philosophy
and programs to the Board and ensuring the Company’s compensation programs are
administered in a fair and equitable manner, and that the objectives of the programs are
achieved in full alignment with the Company’s long term strategy.

Compensation Objectives

The Company’s general compensation philosophy as an organization that values long-term
success of its shareholders, customers, and associates is:

The Company will pay a fair and equitable wage to its associates that is focused on the
long-term performance objectives of the Company and is differentiated based on both
performance of the associate and their business segment.

The Company structures its total compensation to encourage ownership, savings,
wellness, productivity, and innovation. In addition, total compensation will be market
competitive compared to appropriate peer group companies, internally equitable, and
aligned with a performance-based organization. The Company believes this approach will
enable it to attract, retain, and develop the talent required for long-term success, recognize
high levels of associate performance, provide opportunities for all associates to become an
owner of the Company, and enhance associate engagement.
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To build a strong work environment and culture, the Company considers its total
compensation to be comprised of:

•Base pay

•Variable pay (performance-based incentives, sales incentives, innovation awards, stock
grants, spot bonuses)

•Benefits (health, wellness incentives, savings/investment options)

The Company wants its culture and work environment to encourage innovation,
development, and high performance. Specifically, the application of pay for performance
principles will result in high performing associates being compensated above market.
While variable pay will be the primary mode to differentiate performance, management
has the discretion to use a number of choices to create a compensation package that
maintains flexibility among individuals and business segments.  To promote long term
concentration on shareholder value, the Company grants restricted stock awards as
opposed to stock options, the majority of which contain vesting periods.

Over the past several years, the Company has continued to build a culture focused on
innovation. An important part of this strategy is to provide incentives that reward new
ideas, products, services, and markets that have the potential to positively transform the
Company’s future. Associates and related teams that demonstrate innovative results can
share in the success of their ideas by receiving recognition and rewards through one-time
or increased annual performance-based incentives, which may be paid in cash, Class A
common stock, or a combination of both.

The Company’s objective is to have executive compensation plans and practices that are
consistent with the philosophy of a performance-based organization, and that align the
interests of the executives with the shareholders.  Accordingly, the Company’s
compensation philosophy seeks to award compensation that is based on Company,
business segment, and individual performance, and that is designed to motivate executives
to achieve strategic business objectives while individually performing at high levels.

The annual and long-term performance measures used by the Company’s Compensation
Committee in reviewing executive compensation include:

•the levels of the Company’s consolidated net income under generally accepted
accounting principles (“GAAP”)

•consolidated “base net income”1 as reported by the Company in its filings with the SEC

•financial and operational performance measures, such as levels of operating expenses
and diversification and growth of revenue from fee-based businesses

•associate engagement and motivation measures

•individual achievement
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•business segment performance, including growth in customer base, revenue, and
segment profitability

Committee policy requires all of the Company’s compensation plans and practices to
comply with applicable laws, rules, and regulations.

Each year the Committee directs the Company, through the internal committee consisting
of the Chief Learning Officer, Chief Financial Officer, and President, to review and
update as necessary the Company’s compensation philosophy and strategy statement for
the compensation of the executives, and to prepare a proposed executive compensation
framework for the year.  When establishing the proposed compensation framework, in
keeping with the Company’s goal of attracting, motivating, and retaining executives who
will contribute to the Company’s long-term success and the creation of shareholder value,
the internal committee periodically undertakes the review of comparative compensation
offered within the industries in which the Company competes for executive talent.  Given
the Company’s diversified business segments, management believes the Company
competes for executive talent in many industries, including, but not limited to, financial
services, technology, and business process outsourcing.  The internal committee
periodically completes an external compensation review based on information from
various databases and the industries noted previously.  The purpose of this review is to
ensure compensation is aligned with the market for comparable jobs so the Company can
continue to attract, motivate, retain, and reward qualified executives.  Also, the internal
committee considers the average salary adjustments anticipated in the marketplace each
year and sets the Company’s target increase accordingly.  In this way, the Company seeks
to ensure any changes to compensation are appropriate and reflect any material changes in
the market.

1 “Base net income” is GAAP net income excluding derivative market value, foreign
currency, and put option adjustments, amortization of intangible assets, compensation
related to business combinations, variable-rate floor income, and discontinued
operations.  A description of “base net income” and a reconciliation of GAAP net income to
“base net income” can be found in supplemental financial information online at
www.nelnetinvestors.com.
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The Company also considers the compensation levels of executives relative to total
compensation within the Company in order to provide appropriate context for making
compensation decisions at the executive level.  As part of this process, the Company
seeks to maintain internal pay equity by maintaining equitable relationships between each
management level with respect to all components of compensation, both individually and
in the aggregate, paid to individuals within such levels.

The internal committee also consults with the Chief Executive Officer in making
compensation decisions for the executives.

The Company’s compensation philosophy and strategy described above is developed by
the internal committee and other members of management and then reviewed and
approved by the Compensation Committee, with any modifications that the Committee
deems to be appropriate, after discussions by the Committee.  To ensure independence
and candid discussions, the Committee also meets in executive session without the Chief
Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, President, and other members of management
being present to review and approve the compensation framework.  As part of this
process, the Committee reviews the Company’s goals and financial objectives related to
base salaries and incentive compensation.  The Committee also discusses the Chief
Executive Officer’s individual performance in reviewing and approving his total
compensation potential for the year, and coordinates with the Board to monitor the
performance of the Chief Executive Officer throughout the year to ensure that
compensation being provided meets the performance incentive intent of the compensation
framework.

Since the primary driver of the Company’s compensation philosophy is pay for
performance, the Company’s approach to risk management and say on pay provide input
and balance to this philosophy.

Risk Management

The internal compensation committee reviews incentive compensation arrangements to
ensure that the arrangements do not encourage executives to take unnecessary and
excessive risks.  Compensation approaches are reviewed by the Company’s Enterprise
Risk Management team. A balance between Company and business segment performance
is required to protect against unnecessary risks being taken and the Company believes that
its compensation structures do not encourage unnecessary risk.

Say on Pay

Shareholders have the opportunity to cast an advisory vote on executive compensation.
See Proposals 3 and 4 below for the proposals for shareholder advisory votes on the
Company’s compensation of Named Executive Officers in 2010, and on the frequency
with which this vote should be conducted in future years. Although the shareholder votes
on these proposals are non-binding, the Compensation Committee will consider the
outcomes of the votes when making future compensation decisions for Named Executive
Officers and when making future decisions as to the frequency of future advisory votes on
executive compensation.
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Industry Comparison of Compensation

To assist in establishing a competitive overall compensation program, the Company
periodically engages a nationally recognized compensation consulting firm to review the
most highly compensated officers of the Company.  This review includes the Company’s
Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, President, and other executive
officers.  In 2010, the Company engaged Towers Watson, an objective third party, to
review executive compensation at the Company and to conduct an executive total cash
compensation analysis to assess the competitiveness of the compensation levels of base
salary and bonuses provided to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and other
executives.  The consulting firm formulated competitive market rates for all executive
positions included in the study.  Based upon their market analysis, the consultants
presented their findings and observations as to the competitiveness of the Company’s base
salaries and bonuses compared to industries within North America, including, but not
limited to, financial services, technology, and business process outsourcing.  Based on
their review, the internal committee concluded that no material modifications needed to
be made to the existing compensation structures.

This study is used by the Company to identify potential gaps or inequities in total
compensation and to identify appropriate compensation levels and compensation design
features. The study was conducted based on the Company’s duty to its shareholders in an
effort to motivate, retain, and attract top performers that drive the Company’s performance
results.
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When comparing the Company’s executive base salaries, annual incentive plan, benefit
plans, and total compensation to data of the peer groups, the consultants’ analysis ensures
that the Company provides a complete compensation package that is competitive in the
marketplace.

Another independent third party review of the Company’s total compensation structure
will be completed in the next two to three years.

The industries referenced previously and used by the Company to establish competitive
compensation programs may not represent the same industry as the peer group used by
the Company for purposes of the Performance Index Graph furnished in the Company’s
annual report on Form 10-K.

Components of Executive Compensation

The Company’s Chief Executive Officer and other executives may be compensated with a
combination of annual base salary, annual performance-based incentive payments, and,
with respect to the executives (other than the Chief Executive Officer), issuance of shares
of the Company’s Class A common stock, which are typically restricted from sale over a
defined vesting period. The Chief Executive Officer has historically not received equity
compensation because he owns a significant amount of the Company’s common stock and
controls the majority of voting rights of the Company, and thus has interests already
aligned with the other shareholders of the Company.  In determining levels of
compensation, management and the Committee work together to establish targeted total
compensation for each executive and then allocate that compensation among base salary
and incentive compensation.

The Company’s 2010 annual performance-based incentives were paid, at the executives’
option (other than to the Chief Executive Officer, who received his incentive in cash), as
either 100% cash, 100% stock, or 50% cash/50% stock. Those electing stock also
received an additional restricted share grant equal to 15% of the amount of their bonus
they elected to receive in stock to promote increased and continued share ownership by
associates.  All shares issued as part of the incentive award were issued pursuant to the
Company’s Restricted Stock Plan and were fully vested, but restricted from transfer for
one year from issuance.

Other awards of the Company’s Class A common stock (not associated with the annual
performance-based incentives) are based on the Company’s and the individual’s
performance, and are designed both to align the executives’ own interests with the
long-term strategic goals of the Company and to contribute to the retention of those
individuals.

Each element of compensation is designed to be competitive with comparable companies
and to align management’s incentives with the long-term interests of the Company’s
shareholders.  The Committee, upon management’s recommendation, determines the
amount of each element of compensation by reviewing the current compensation mix for
each of the executives in comparison to the Company’s performance, the Company’s
long-term objectives, and the scope of that executive’s responsibility. The Committee
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seeks to achieve an appropriate balance between base salary, annual performance-based
incentives, and longer-term equity incentives for all of the Company’s executives.  The
Committee does not assign relative weights to the performance measures described above
in “Compensation Objectives” in setting these salaries, annual performance-based
incentives, and longer-term equity incentives.

Base Salaries

The Company wants to provide senior management with a level of assured cash
compensation in the form of base salary that is appropriate given their professional status
and accomplishments.  Base salary for the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and other
executives is based upon an evaluation of individual responsibilities of each person,
market comparisons from compensation surveys, and an assessment of each individual’s
performance.  Base salaries are generally set to be within a median range of the
compensation survey results, which helps the Company attract and retain talented
executives.  Changes in base salaries of executives depend on projected changes in the
external market as well as individual contributions to the Company’s performance.  All
base salaries are paid in cash.

The Chief Executive Officer has not had a base salary increase from 2006 through 2010,
the President had no increase in 2009, and the Chief Financial Officer did not have a base
salary increase from 2007 through 2009.

The decline in economic conditions resulted in minimal increase or declines in the cost of
living during 2008 into 2009.  Thus, as a general rule, no overall base salary adjustments
were  made  and  wages  were  f rozen  in  2009  fo r  a l l  employees ,  inc lud ing
executives.  Considering the improvement in corporate business results and the current
economic conditions, base salary merit increases were reinstated for 2010.
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Annual Performance-Based Incentive Payments

Historically, the performance-based incentive pools are determined and funded based on
the Company’s financial performance while allowing for subjective modification to
account for unique results during the year.

In addition to earning targets, most business segment plan criteria also include additional
measurements such as:

•      Fiscal (financial and operational) performance

•      Customer engagement

•      Associate engagement

With respect to assessing performance, the achievements of the Company, the business
segment, and individual performance objectives are considered. Company-wide
performance objectives include, as stated previously, results of the Company’s
consolidated GAAP net income and “base net income,” financial and operational
performance measures, associate engagement, and business segment performance
factors.  Achieving the targeted “base net income” is the primary company-wide objective,
as the growth in “base net income” has a direct correlation with the interests of the
Company’s shareholders. Incentives are generally positioned to be within a median range
of the compensation survey results.

The executives also have specific performance goals. Where an executive has
responsibility for a particular business segment, the performance goals are heavily
weighted toward the performance of that business segment.  However, actual payments
for business segment performance goal achievement can be negatively or positively
impacted by overall company-wide performance, which funds the overall incentive pool.
When an executive has broader corporate responsibility, such as the Company’s Chief
Financial Officer and President, their particular objectives for the year are tied more
closely to the overall company-wide performance.

The executives are eligible for performance-based incentive payments under an incentive
plan arrangement which generally increases as the Company’s “base net income”
increases.  In addition to financial results, each executive’s business segment and
individual performance are considered in order to determine the final amount of the
incentive payment earned.

While the Company strives for overall consistency in executive compensation, the
executives’ potential incentive amounts vary by business segment due to differences in
roles, business models, and business performance.

Compensation Arrangements with Named Executive Officers

On June 1, 2005, in connection with the Company’s acquisition of a majority of the stock
of FACTS Management Co., the Company entered into an employment agreement with
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Mr. Tewes that expired May 31, 2010.  Mr. Tewes remains an ‘at will’ employee of the
Company.

The Company does not have contracts, agreements, plans, or arrangements with its
Named Executive Officers that provide for payment in connection with any termination or
change-in-control.  In addition, the Company does not currently have a formal written
policy for the adjustment or recovery of awards or payments if the relevant performance
measures upon which they are based are restated or otherwise adjusted in a manner that
would reduce the size of an award or payment.

Executive Officers Bonus Plan

Effective January 1, 2010, the Board of Directors terminated the Executive Officers
Bonus Plan (the “Plan”) for Mr. Dunlap, Chief Executive Officer.

Under the Plan, Mr. Dunlap was eligible for an annual bonus equal to $500,000 for every
$1.00, or the pro-rata share thereof, in “base net income” per share earned by the Company
during the year. “Base net income” per share was defined under the plan as the Company’s
annual “base net income” for the Plan year, as calculated and reported in the Company’s
earnings releases and filings, divided by the weighted average basic number of common
shares outstanding as of the end of the Plan year.

Effective January 1, 2010, Mr. Dunlap’s bonus is determined by the Board of Directors
based on individual performance and Company results, provided that such amount shall
not in any case exceed 100% of Mr. Dunlap’s annual base salary, which for 2010 was
$500,000. (Mr. Dunlap’s salary in 2011 remains at $500,000).  The President and Chief
Financial Officer’s incentive targets are also limited to 100% of their base salary.  For
2010, the summary compensation tables below reflect an incentive greater than 100% of
base salary for these executives due to the additional 15% stock grant resulting from their
election of 100% stock for their performance-based incentive.

18
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Restricted Stock Plan

The Company maintains a Restricted Stock Plan administered by the Committee to
reward performance by associates, including executives other than the Chief Executive
Officer.  This plan permits the Committee to reward a recipient with an award of shares of
the Company’s Class A common stock, which, in the Committee’s sole discretion, may
have vesting requirements attached.  These additional awards are designed to recognize
and reward the executives, and to connect the executives’ wealth accumulation directly to
the Company’s performance, thereby encouraging the executives to behave as owners of
the Company.

Other Equity Awards

The Company also supports a number of other savings and investment vehicles that assist
all associates, including executives, in increasing their long-term financial savings and in
becoming owners of the Company.  The Company provides an Employee Share Purchase
Plan, pursuant to which shares of the Company’s Class A common stock may be acquired
through payroll deductions, at a discount of 15% to the lower of the average market price
of the Company’s stock on the first and last trading days of each calendar quarter.  In
addition, the Company provides all eligible associates the opportunity to receive the
Company’s matching contribution to the 401(k) plan in shares of the Company’s Class A
common stock.

The Company does not offer stock options.  It is management’s opinion that awards of
restricted stock are a better method of encouraging executives to focus on the long term
value of the Company.

Share Ownership Guidelines

The Compensation Committee believes that executives should have a significant equity
interest in the Company.  In order to promote equity ownership and further align the
interests of management with the Company’s shareholders, in 2005 the Committee
recommended and the Board adopted Share Ownership Guidelines for management
associates at certain levels.  Under these guidelines, each Named Executive Officer is
encouraged to own at least 15,000 shares of Company stock. As of February 28, 2011, all
Named Executive Officers met these guidelines, and are thereby exposed to downside risk
in the Company’s equity performance.

Other Compensation

In addition to base salaries and annual performance-based incentive compensation, the
Company provides executives with certain other benefits to assist the Company in
remaining competitive in the marketplace and to encourage executives to remain with the
Company.

Benefits, including health, dental, and vision coverage, are designed to be competitive
with the national marketplace.  A critical aspect of the Company’s health benefits program
is its focus on associate health and wellness.  The Company encourages all associates,
including executives, to take a proactive approach to their personal health and
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wellbeing.  The Company has implemented wellness programs which encourage and
reward associates for healthy habits by offering the opportunity to lower their insurance
premiums.

The Company owns a controlling interest in an aircraft due to the frequent business travel
needs of its executives and the limited availability of commercial flights in Lincoln,
Nebraska, where the Company’s headquarters are located.  Union Financial Services, Inc.,
which is owned by Mr. Dunlap and Stephen F. Butterfield, a member of the Board of
Directors and former Co-Chief Executive Officer of the Company, owns the remaining
interest in the aircraft.  Consistent with guidance issued in 2010 from the Federal Aviation
Administration, the Company can be reimbursed for the pro rata cost of owning,
operating, and maintaining the aircraft when used for routine personal travel by certain
individuals positions with the Company require them to routinely change travel plans
within a short time period.  Accordingly the Company allows Messrs. Dunlap and
Butterfield to utilize its interest in the aircraft for personal travel when it is not required
for business travel.  The value of the personal use of the aircraft is computed based on the
Company’s aggregate incremental costs, which include variable operating costs such as
fuel costs, mileage costs, trip-related maintenance and hangar costs, on-board catering,
landing/ramp fees, and other miscellaneous variable costs.  In 2010, Messrs. Dunlap and
Butterfield did not receive any personal travel benefits with respect to the Company’s
interest in the aircraft, since all personal travel by Messrs. Dunlap and Butterfield on such
aircraft occurred with respect to the interest in the aircraft owned by Union Financial
Services, Inc.
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Policy on Deductibility of Compensation

Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code imposes a $1 million limitation, subject to
certain exceptions, on a public company’s income tax deductibility in any tax year with
respect to compensation paid to any employee who is a chief executive officer, or one of
the three highest paid executive officers of the company on the last day of that tax year
(other than the chief executive officer or the chief financial officer).  This limitation does
not apply to certain “performance-based” compensation paid under a shareholder approved
plan that meets the requirements of Section 162(m) and the regulations thereunder.

The Committee believes that the Company will not be subject to Section 162(m)
limitations on the deductibility of compensation paid to executives for 2010.  The
Committee may consider other steps which might be in the Company’s best interests to
comply with Section 162(m), while reserving the right to award future compensation
which may not comply with the Section 162(m) requirements for deductibility if the
Committee concludes that such compensation is in the Company’s best interests in
providing incentives to attract, motivate, and retain key executives.

Matching Gift Program

The Company offers a matching gift program in which all employees with at least six
months of service and all members of the Board of Directors are eligible to
participate.  Under this program, for every dollar ($100 minimum) that an employee or
Board member contributes to an eligible charitable organization or educational institution,
the Company will make matching donations of additional funds, subject to terms and
conditions applicable in an equal manner to all employees and Board members.  During
2010, the Company matched the following amounts in contributions under the provisions
of this program by the Named Executive Officers:

Michael S.
Dunlap $100

Terry J. Heimes 22,600

Jeffrey R.
Noordhoek —

Timothy A.
Tewes —

William J.
Munn 1,750

Conclusion

By ensuring market competitive compensation that is aligned with a performance-based
organization philosophy, the Company expects to attract, motivate, and retain the
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executive talent required to achieve long-term goals.  This is critical, as management
knows the Company’s success hinges on having engaged executives who are committed to
the Company.

Compensation Committee Report

The Compensation Committee has reviewed and discussed the Compensation Discussion
and Analysis required by Item 402(b) of Regulation S-K with management. Based upon
such review, the related discussions, and such other matters deemed relevant and
appropriate by the Compensation Committee, the Compensation Committee has
recommended to the Board of Directors that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis
be included in this proxy statement to be delivered to shareholders.

Respectfully submitted,

James P. Abel, Chairman
Kimberly K. Rath
Michael D. Reardon
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Summary Compensation Table for Fiscal Years 2010, 2009, and 2008

The following table sets forth summary information with respect to the compensation paid
and bonuses granted for services rendered by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, as well as each of the Company’s other three most highly
compensated executive officers during the year ended December 31, 2010 (collectively,
the “Named Executive Officers”).  The information presented in the table relates to the
fiscal years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, except that in accordance with
SEC staff guidance only information relating to the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010
is presented for William J. Munn, who first became a Named Executive Officer in 2010.
Salaries and bonuses are paid at the discretion of the Board of Directors.

Annual compensation (a)
All other

compensation
Name and principal
position

Year Salary ($) Bonus ($)
(b)

($) (c) Total ($)

Michael S. Dunlap 2010 500,000 500,000 10,440 1,010,440
Chief Executive
Officer

2009 500,000 — (d) 10,340 510,340

2008 500,000 — (d) 10,340 510,340

Terry J. Heimes 2010 331,500 381,240 33,180 745,920
Chief Financial
Officer

2009 325,000 325,017 33,440 683,457

2008 325,000 50,001 19,986 394,987

Jeffrey R. Noordhoek 2010 331,500 381,240 10,340 723,080
President 2009 325,000 325,017 10,340 660,357

2008 325,000 50,001 9,740 384,741

Timothy A. Tewes 2010 275,800 172,512 21,087 469,399
President and
Chief Executive

2009 260,000 120,005 26,943 406,948

Officer, Nelnet
Business
Solutions,

2008 260,000 150,004 26,093 436,097

a subsidiary of
Nelnet, Inc.

William J. Munn 2010 225,000 172,512 10,646 408,158
Executive Director,
Corporate Secretary,
Chief
Governance
Officer,
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and General
Counsel

(a)Executive officers may receive perquisites and personal benefits, the aggregate dollar
amounts of which are below the current SEC threshold of $10,000 for reporting.

(b) Amounts represent bonuses paid in 2011, 2010, and 2009 for services
rendered during the 2010, 2009, and 2008 calendar years, respectively.  The
Company’s 2010 annual performance-based incentives were paid, at the
executives’ option (other than to the Chief Executive Officer, who received
his incentive in cash), as either 100% cash, 100% stock, or 50% cash/50%
stock. Those electing stock also received an additional restricted share grant
equal to 15% of the amount of their bonus they elected to receive in stock to
promote increased and continued share ownership by associates.  All shares
issued as part of the incentive award were issued pursuant to the Company’s
Restricted Stock Plan and were fully vested, but restricted from transfer for
one year from issuance.  All 2009 and 2008 bonuses (paid in 2010 and 2009,
respectively) were also paid in fully vested shares of Class A common stock
issued pursuant to the Company’s Restricted Stock Plan, however, the 2009
and 2008 bonuses did not include an additional 15% share award and there
were no transfer restrictions.  The stock issuances for bonuses in 2010, 2009,
and 2008 were not made as equity incentive plan awards.

For 2010, all Named Executive Officers (with the exception of Mr. Dunlap) elected to
receive 100% of their annual performance-based incentive in stock. As a result, Mr.
Heimes and Mr. Noordhoek’s annual incentives are greater than their base salary due to
the additional 15% stock grant they received as a result of this election.
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(c) “All other compensation” includes the following:

All other compensation
Employer
matching

contributions Premiums Matching Dividends Gross-up
under 401(k) on life gift on

restricted
Automobile for

payment
Year Plan ($) insurance

($)
program
(1)

stock ($)
(2)

allowance
($)

of taxes
($)

Other
($)

Total
($)

Michael
S.
Dunlap

2010 9,800 540 100 — — — —10,440

2009 9,800 540 — — — — —10,340
2008 9,200 540 600 — — — —10,340

Terry
J.
Heimes

2010 9,800 540 22,600 — — —240 33,180

2009 9,800 540 23,100 — — — —33,440
2008 9,200 540 10,100 — — —146 19,986

Jeffrey
R.
Noordhoek

2010 9,800 540 — — — — —10,340

2009 9,800 540 — — — — —10,340
2008 9,200 540 — — — — —9,740

Timothy
A.
Tewes

2010 9,800 540 — 2,004 6,000 2,743 —21,087

2009 9,800 540 — 280 12,000 4,323 —26,943
2008 8,976 540 — 529 12,000 4,048 —26,093

William
J.
Munn

2010 8,308 540 1,750 49 — — —10,646

(1)The Company has a matching gift program as discussed previously in the
“Compensation Discussion and Analysis” included in this proxy statement.

(2)The Company’s cash dividend payments on its Class A and Class B common stock
includes dividend payments on unvested shares of Class A common stock issued
pursuant to the Company’s Restricted Stock Plan.  Dividends paid to the Named
Executive Officers on unvested restricted stock are included in the table above.

(d)
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For 2009 and 2008, Mr. Dunlap was not entitled to any award under the Executive
Officers Bonus Plan, as the Company did not maintain an investment grade rating by
both Standard & Poor’s and  Moody’s Investor Services.  Effective January 1, 2010, the
Board of Directors terminated the Executive Officers Bonus Plan.

Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table for Fiscal Year 2010

The following table sets forth summary information relating to each grant of an award
made to the Company’s Named Executive Officers for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2010.

Approval of
grant by Grant

date
Compensation Number

of
fair value

of
Name Grant

date (a)
Committee shares

of stock
stock
awards
($) (b)

Michael S.
Dunlap

— — — —

Terry J.
Heimes

March
12,
2010

February 2,
2010

18,425 325,017

Jeffrey R.
Noordhoek

March
12,
2010

February 2,
2010

18,425 325,017

Timothy A.
Tewes

March
12,
2010

February 2,
2010

6,803 120,005

William J.
Munn

March
12,
2010

February 2,
2010

6,803 120,005

(a) On March 12, 2010, the Company issued stock to pay fiscal year 2009
bonuses.  The stock issuances were not made as equity incentive plan
awards.  All 2009 bonuses (paid in 2010) were paid in fully vested shares of
Class A common stock issued pursuant to the Company’s Restricted Stock Plan.

(b)The Company determined the value of these awards based on the average of the high
and low prices for sales of Class A common stock on March 4, 2010, which was
$17.64.
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End Table (As of December 31, 2010)

The following table sets forth summary information relating to the outstanding unvested
equity awards for the Company’s Named Executive Officers as of December 31, 2010.

Stock awards
Number

of
Market
value

shares of
stock

of shares
of

that have stock that
Name not vested have not

vested ($)
(a)

Michael S.
Dunlap

— —

Terry J.
Heimes

— —

Jeffrey R.
Noordhoek

— —

Timothy A.
Tewes

2,625  (b) 62,186

William J.
Munn

66   (c) 1,564

(a) Based on the closing market price of the Company’s Class A common stock as of
December 31, 2010 of $23.69.

(b)Amount represents shares of restricted Class A common stock issued on October 1,
2007 pursuant to the Company’s Restricted Stock Plan, of which 375 shares will vest
on each March 15 during the years 2011 through 2017.

(c)Amount represents shares of restricted Class A common stock issued on March 9, 2009
pursuant to the Company’s Restricted Stock Plan, of which 33 shares will vest on each
March 9, 2011 and March 9, 2012.

Stock Vested Table for Fiscal Year 2010

The following table sets forth summary information relating to the stock vested for the
Company’s Named Executive Officers during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010.

Stock awards
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Number
of

Market
value

shares of
stock

of shares
of

acquired stock
realized

Name on
vesting

on
vesting
($) (c)

Michael S.
Dunlap

— —

Terry J.
Heimes

— —

Jeffrey R.
Noordhoek

— —

Timothy A.
Tewes

1,375
(a)

26,924

William J.
Munn

34
(b)

659

(a)Amount includes 375 shares and 1,000 shares of restricted Class A common stock
issued on October 1, 2007 and August 23, 2007, respectively, pursuant to the
Company’s Restricted Stock Plan.  The closing market price on the date of issuance of
these shares was $18.71 and $18.36 per share, respectively.  These shares vested on
March 15, 2010 and April 30, 2010, respectively.

(b)Amount represents shares of restricted Class A common stock issued on March 9,
2009.  The closing market price on the date of issuance of these shares was $4.91 per
share. These shares vested on March 9, 2010.

(c)The closing market price of the Company’s common stock as of March 9, 2010, March
15, 2010, and April 30, 2010 (the vesting dates) was $19.37 per share, $18.57 per
share, and $19.96 per share, respectively.

Stock Option, SAR, Long-Term Incentive, and Defined Benefit Plans

The Company does not have any stock option, SAR, long-term incentive, or defined
benefit plans covering its Named Executive Officers.
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SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND
PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS

Stock Ownership

The authorized common stock of the Company consists of 660,000,000 shares, $0.01 par
value.  The common stock is divided into two classes, consisting of 600,000,000 shares of
Class A common stock and 60,000,000 shares of Class B common stock.  The Company
also has authorized 50,000,000 shares of preferred stock, $0.01 par value.

The following table sets forth information as of February 28, 2011, regarding the
beneficial ownership of each class of the Company’s common stock by:

•each person, entity, or group known by the Company to beneficially own more than
five percent of the outstanding shares of any class of common stock

• each of the Named Executive Officers

• each incumbent director and each nominee for director

• all executive officers and directors as a group

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules and regulations of the
SEC. Under these rules, a person is deemed to beneficially own a share of the Company’s
common stock if that person has or shares voting power or investment power with respect
to that share, or has the right to acquire beneficial ownership of that share within 60 days,
including through the exercise of any option, warrant, or other right or the conversion of
any other security.

The number of shares of Class B common stock for each person in the table below
assumes such person does not convert any Class B common stock into Class A common
stock. Unless otherwise indicated in a footnote, the address of each five percent beneficial
owner is c/o Nelnet, Inc., 121 South 13th Street, Suite 201, Lincoln, Nebraska 68508.
Unless otherwise indicated in a footnote, the persons named in the tables below have sole
voting and investment power with respect to all shares of common stock shown as being
beneficially owned by them.

Beneficial Ownership – As of February 28, 2011

Number of shares
beneficially owned

Percentage of shares
beneficially owned (1)

Percentage
of

combined
voting
power
of all
classes
of

stock
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Name Class A Class B Total
Class
A

Class
B Total  (2)

Michael S.
Dunlap 7,378,326 (3) 9,455,730 (4) 16,834,056 20.0% 82.3 % 34.8% 67.1%
Stephen F.
Butterfield 355 3,952,364 (5) 3,952,719 * 34.4 % 8.2 % 26.0%
Angela L.
Muhleisen 7,778,814 (6) 1,361,436 (7) 9,140,250 21.1% 11.8 % 18.9% 14.1%
Union
Bank and
Trust
Company 4,547,955 (8) 1,361,436 (9) 5,909,391 12.3% 11.8 % 12.2% 12.0%
Terry J.
Heimes 192,671 (10) - 192,671 * — * *
William J.
Munn 23,294 (11) - 23,294 * — * *
Jeffrey R.
Noordhoek 418,320 (12) - 418,320 1.1 % — * *
Timothy A.
Tewes 24,029 (13) - 24,029 * — * *
James P.
Abel 33,186 (14) - 33,186 * — * *
Kathleen A.
Farrell 19,399 (15) - 19,399 * — * *
Thomas E.
Henning 42,082 (16) - 42,082 * — * *
Brian J.
O'Connor 40,541 - 40,541 * — * *
Kimberly
K. Rath 15,535 (17) - 15,535 * — * *
Michael D.
Reardon 20,121 (18) - 20,121 * — * *
The
Vangaurd
Group, Inc. 2,081,466 (19) - 2,081,466 5.6 % — 4.3 % 1.4 %
Executive
officers and
directors
   as a
group 8,397,284 (20) 11,495,377 19,892,661 22.8% 100.0% 41.1% 81.3%

* Less than 1%.
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(1)Based on 36,861,784 shares of Class A common stock and 11,495,377 shares of Class
B common stock outstanding as of February 28, 2011.

(2)These percentages reflect the different voting rights of the Company’s Class A
common stock and Class B common stock. Each share of Class A common stock has
one vote and each share of Class B common stock has ten votes on all matters to be
voted upon by the Company’s shareholders.

(3)Mr. Dunlap is deemed to have sole voting and investment power over 2,425,871
shares of Class A common stock, which includes 3,015 shares of Class A common
stock held indirectly by Mr. Dunlap that were issued under the Company’s 401(k) plan
matching stock program.  Mr. Dunlap may be deemed to have shared voting and
investment power over 4,952,455 shares of Class A common stock, which includes
shares of Class A common stock that are owned by entities that Mr. Dunlap may be
deemed to control, consisting of: (i) 404,500 shares owned by Farmers & Merchants
Investment Inc. (“F&M”), of which Mr. Dunlap is a director and co-president and owns
or controls approximately 22% of the outstanding voting stock, and of which Mr.
Dunlap’s spouse owns approximately 18% of the outstanding voting stock, and (ii)
4,547,955 shares held for the accounts of miscellaneous trusts, IRAs, and investment
accounts at Union Bank and Trust Company (“Union Bank”) (some of which shares
may under certain circumstances be pledged as security by Union Bank’s customers
under the terms of the accounts) with respect to which Union Bank may be deemed to
have or share voting or investment power.  Mr. Dunlap is a director of and controls
Union Bank through F&M. Mr. Dunlap disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares
held for the accounts of miscellaneous trusts, IRAs, and investment accounts at Union
Bank, except for his beneficial interest in the shares of Class A common stock issued
to him through the Company’s 401(k) plan matching stock program. He also disclaims
beneficial ownership of the shares held by F&M, except to the extent of his pecuniary
interest therein and to the extent that he actually has or shares voting power or
investment power with respect to such shares, and the reporting thereof shall not be
construed as an admission that he is a beneficial owner of such shares.  With respect
to the number of shares of Class A common stock beneficially owned by Mr. Dunlap
that are held by Union Bank, the number of shares set forth in the table reflects the
number of shares held by Union Bank as of December 31, 2010, as reported in a
Schedule 13G/A filed by Union Bank with the SEC on February 14, 2011.

(4)Mr. Dunlap is deemed to have sole voting and investment power over 6,507,603
shares of Class B common stock, which includes 1,701,000 shares owned by Mr.
Dunlap’s spouse.  Mr. Dunlap is deemed to have shared voting and investment power
over 2,948,127 shares of Class B common stock, which includes (i) 1,586,691 shares
owned by Union Financial Services, Inc., of which Mr. Dunlap is Chairman and owns
50.0% of the outstanding capital stock, (ii) 1,035,410 shares held by Union Bank as
Trustee for a Class B grantor retained annuity trust (“GRAT”) established by Mr.
Dunlap, and (iii) 326,026 shares held by Union Bank as Trustee under a Class B
GRAT established by Mr. Butterfield. Mr. Dunlap disclaims beneficial ownership of
the shares held by Union Financial Services, Inc., except to the extent of his pecuniary
interest therein.  Mr. Dunlap also disclaims beneficial ownership of the 326,026
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shares held by Union Bank as Trustee under the Class B GRAT established by Mr.
Butterfield.

(5)Mr. Butterfield is deemed to have sole voting and investment power over 2,039,647
shares of Class B common stock that are held by the Stephen F. Butterfield Revocable
Living Trust, of which Mr. Butterfield is a trustee.  Mr. Butterfield is deemed to have
shared voting and investment power over 1,912,717 shares of Class B common stock,
which includes (i) 1,586,691 shares owned by Union Financial Services, Inc., of
which Mr. Butterfield is a director and president and owns 50.0% of the outstanding
capital stock and (ii) 326,026 shares held by Union Bank as Trustee for a Class B
GRAT established by Mr. Butterfield. Mr. Butterfield disclaims beneficial ownership
of the shares held by Union Financial Services, Inc., except to the extent of his
pecuniary interest therein.  A total of 2,039,647 shares are pledged as collateral for a
line of credit.

(6)Ms. Muhleisen is deemed to have sole voting and investment power over 2,609,955
shares of Class A common stock.  Ms. Muhleisen is deemed to have shared voting
and investment power over 5,168,859 shares of Class A common stock, which
includes (i) 88,864 shares jointly owned by Ms. Muhleisen and her spouse, (ii)
1,114,390 shares owned by her spouse, (iii) 575,245 shares held by Ms. Muhleisen’s
son, (iv) 575,245 shares held by Ms. Muhleisen’s daughter, (v) 913,220 shares held by
Union Bank as Trustee for Class A GRATs established by Ms. Muhleisen and her
spouse, and (vi) shares that are owned by entities that Ms. Muhleisen may be deemed
to control, consisting of: 404,500 shares owned by F&M, of which Ms. Muhleisen is a
director and co-president and owns or controls 38.6% of the outstanding capital stock,
and 1,497,395 shares held by Union Bank for the accounts of miscellaneous trusts,
IRAs, and investment accounts at Union Bank (some of which shares may under
certain circumstances be pledged as security by Union Bank’s customers under the
terms of the accounts) with respect to which Union Bank may be deemed to have or
share voting or investment power.  Ms. Muhleisen, the sister of Michael S. Dunlap, is
a director, chairperson, president, and chief executive officer of and controls Union
Bank through F&M.  Ms. Muhleisen disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares
held for the accounts of miscellaneous trusts, IRAs, and investment accounts at Union
Bank, except for her retained beneficial interest in 913,220 shares of Class A common
stock held in trust on her behalf and on behalf of her spouse under two of the Class A
GRATs.  She also disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares held by F&M, except
to the extent of her pecuniary interest therein.  The address for Ms. Muhleisen is c/o
Union Bank and Trust Company, P.O. Box 82529, Lincoln, Nebraska 68501.  With
respect to the number of shares of Class A common stock beneficially owned by Ms.
Muhleisen that are held by Union Bank, the number of shares set forth in the table
reflects the number of shares held by Union Bank as of December 31, 2010, as
reported in a Schedule 13G/A filed by Union Bank with the SEC on February 14,
2011.
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(7) Ms. Muhleisen is deemed to have shared voting and investment power over
1,361,436 shares of Class B common stock that are held by Union Bank as
Trustee under Class B GRATs established by Mr. Dunlap and Mr.
Butterfield. Ms. Muhleisen disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares held
by Union Bank as Trustee under the Class B GRATs.

(8)Union Bank is deemed to have sole voting and investment power over 30,000 shares
of Class A common stock that are held by the Union Bank profit sharing plan.  Union
Bank is deemed to have shared voting and investment power over 4,517,955 shares of
Class A common stock, which includes (i) 195,000 shares held as trustee for the
University of Nebraska Foundation, (ii) 219,022 shares held by Union Bank as
Trustee under a Class A GRAT and a Class A charitable remainder trust established
by Mr. Noordhoek, (iii) 913,220 shares held by Union Bank as Trustee under Class A
GRATs established by Ms. Muhleisen and her spouse, (iv) 2,137,340 shares of Class
A common stock held by Union Bank in individual accounts for Ms. Muhleisen and
her spouse, and (v) 1,053,373 shares held for the accounts of miscellaneous trusts,
IRAs, and investment accounts at Union Bank (some of which shares may under
certain circumstances be pledged as security by Union Bank’s customers under the
terms of the accounts) with respect to which Union Bank may be deemed to have or
share voting or investment power.  Union Bank disclaims beneficial ownership of
such shares except to the extent that Union Bank actually has or shares voting power
or investment power with respect to such shares.  The address for Union Bank is
P.O. Box 82529, Lincoln, Nebraska 68501; Attention: Angela L. Muhleisen,
President.  The number of shares of Class A common stock set forth in the table for
Union Bank reflect the number of shares held by Union Bank as of December 31,
2010, as reported in a Schedule 13G/A filed by Union Bank with the SEC on
February 14, 2011.

(9) Union Bank is deemed to have shared voting and investment power over
1,361,436 shares of Class B common stock that are held by Union Bank
as Trustee under Class B GRATs established by Mr. Dunlap and Mr.
Butterfield.  Union Bank disclaims beneficial ownership of such shares
except to the extent that Union Bank actually has or shares voting power
or investment power with respect to such shares.

(10) Includes 50,080 shares owned by Mr. Heimes’ spouse. A total of 115,690
Class A shares are pledged as collateral for a line of credit which had not been
drawn upon as of February 28, 2011.

(11)Includes 500 shares jointly owned by Mr. Munn and his spouse and 66 shares issued
under the Company’s Restricted Stock Plan of which 33 shares will vest on each
March 9, 2011 and March 9, 2012.

(12) Includes 177,806 shares held by the Jeffrey R. Noordhoek Trust, 195,187
shares held by Union Bank as Trustee under a Class A GRAT established
by Mr. Noordhoek, and 23,835 shares held by Union Bank as Trustee
under a Class A CRUT established by Mr. Noordhoek.  A total of 194,232
Class A shares are pledged as collateral for a line of credit which had not
been drawn upon as of February 28, 2011.
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(13)Includes 2,625 shares issued under the Company’s Restricted Stock Plan, which vest
in equal annual installments of 375 shares from March 2011 through March 2017.

(14)Includes 25,082 shares that Mr. Abel has elected to defer delivery of pursuant to the
deferral election provisions of the Company’s Directors Stock Compensation
Plan.  Also includes 500 shares owned by Mr. Abel’s spouse.

(15)Includes 13,989 shares that Ms. Farrell has elected to defer delivery of pursuant to
the deferral election provisions of the Company’s Directors Stock Compensation
Plan.

(16)Includes 29,993 shares that Mr. Henning has elected to defer delivery of pursuant to
the deferral election provisions of the Company’s Directors Stock Compensation
Plan.  Also includes 3,090 shares owned by Mr. Henning’s spouse.

(17)Includes 14,335 shares that Ms. Rath has elected to defer delivery of pursuant to the
deferral election provisions of the Company’s Directors Stock Compensation
Plan.  Amount also includes 1,200 shares owned by Ms. Rath’s husband in an
individual retirement account.
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(18)Includes 15,672 shares owned jointly by Mr. Reardon and his spouse in a margin
securities account at a brokerage firm.  Positions held in such account, including
shares of the Company’s Class A common stock, may under certain circumstances be
pledged as collateral security for the repayment of debit balances, if any, in such
account.

(19)On February 9, 2011, The Vanguard Group, Inc. (“Vanguard”) filed a Schedule 13G
with the Securities and Exchange Commission indicating that they beneficially
owned 5.6% of the Company’s Class A common stock as of December 31,
2010.  The amounts set forth in the table reflect the number of shares reported in the
Schedule 13G and includes 53,501 shares held by Vanguard Fiduciary Trust
Company (“VFTC), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Vanguard.  VFTC is the
investment manager of collective trust accounts.  The principal business address for
Vanguard is 100 Vanguard Boulevard, Malvern, Pennsylvania, 19355.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires the Company’s executive officers and
directors, and persons who beneficially own more than ten percent of a registered class of
the Company’s equity securities, to file with the SEC and the New York Stock Exchange
r epo r t s  o f  owne r s h i p  o f  Company  s e cu r i t i e s  a nd  c h ange s  i n  r e po r t e d
ownership.  Executive officers, directors, and greater than ten percent shareholders are
required by SEC rules to furnish the Company with copies of all Section 16(a) reports that
they file.

Based solely on a review of the reports furnished to the Company, or written
representations from reporting persons that all reportable transactions were reported, the
Company believes that during the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company’s
executive officers, directors, and greater than ten percent beneficial owners timely filed
all reports they were required to file under Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act, except as
noted below.

One Form 4 report for James H. Van Horn, who resigned from the Company’s Board of
Directors effective February 15, 2010, that reported one transaction relating to the
conversion pursuant to the Directors Stock Compensation Plan of previously reported
shares of phantom stock into shares of Class A common stock upon Mr. Van Horn’s
resignation from the Board of Directors, was filed late on March 2, 2010 due to an
administrative oversight by the Company’s staff.  In addition, one Form 4 report for
Angela L. Muhleisen, a greater than ten percent beneficial owner, that reported two
transactions relating to sales of shares of Class A common stock by Ms. Muhleisen’s
children on July 1, 2010 pursuant to Rule 10b5-1 sales plans adopted on September 15,
2009, was filed one day late on July 7, 2010 due to an administrative oversight by the
Company’s staff.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

Policies and Procedures on Transactions with Related Persons
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The Company has adopted written policies and procedures for the Nominating and
Corporate Governance Committee’s review of any transaction, arrangement, or
relationship (including any indebtedness or guarantee of indebtedness) or series of similar
transactions, arrangements, or relationships in which (i) the Company is a participant,
(ii) the aggregate amount involved will or may be expected to exceed $120,000, and (iii) a
related person has or will have a direct or indirect material interest.  For purposes of this
policy, a “related person” means (i) any of our directors, executive officers, or nominees for
director, (ii) any stockholder that beneficially owns more than five percent of the
Company’s outstanding shares of common stock, and (iii) any immediate family member
of the foregoing.  The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee approves or
ratifies only those transactions that it determines in good faith are in, or are not
inconsistent with, the best interests of the Company and its stockholders.  The Nominating
and Corporate Governance Committee may, in its discretion, submit certain transactions
to the full Board of Directors for approval where it deems appropriate.

In determining whether to approve or ratify a transaction, the Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee takes into account the factors it deems appropriate, which may
include, among others, the benefits to the Company, the availability of other sources for
comparable products or services, the impact on a director’s independence in the event the
related person is a director, and the extent of the related person’s interest in the
transaction.  The policy also provides for the delegation of its authority to the Chairman
of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee for any related person
transaction requiring pre-approval or ratification between meetings of the Nominating and
Corporate Governance Committee.  The Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee reviews and assesses ongoing relationships with a related person on at least an
annual basis to see that they are in compliance with the policy and remain appropriate.

All approved related party transactions are communicated to the full Board of Directors
by the Chairman of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, or his
designee.  Mr. Dunlap beneficially owns shares representing over 67% of the combined
voting power of the Company’s shareholders.  Because of his beneficial ownership, Mr.
Dunlap can effectively elect each member of the Board of Directors, including all
members of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, and has the power to
defeat or remove each member.

Although there is no formal requirement for executive management of the Company to
approve related party transactions, executive management reviews all related party
transactions.  Upon reviewing related party transactions, executive management takes into
account the factors it deems appropriate, which may include, among others, the benefits to
the Company, the availability of other sources for comparable products or services, the
impact on a director’s independence in the event the related person is a director, and the
extent of the related person’s interest in the transaction.
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Each member of the Company’s executive management has been hired by and is
supervised by Mr. Dunlap and can be fired by him or otherwise penalized by him because
he is the Chief Executive Officer.

During 2010, the Company entered into certain transactions and had business
arrangements with Union Bank and Trust Company and Union Financial Services.  These
transactions were reviewed and approved by the Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee and reviewed by executive management.  Union Bank and Trust Company
and Union Financial Services are related persons as discussed below.  We cannot affirm
whether or not the fees and terms of each transaction are substantially the same terms as
those prevailing at the time for transactions with persons that do not have a relationship
with the company (either directly or as a partner, shareholder, or officer of an
organization that has a relationship with the Company).  However, all related party
transactions are based on available market information for comparable assets, products,
and services and are extensively negotiated.

•Union Bank and Trust Company — Union Bank is controlled by Farmers & Merchants
Investment Inc. (“F&M”), which owns 81.4% of Union Bank’s common stock and 15.4%
of Union Bank’s non-voting preferred stock. Michael S. Dunlap, a significant
shareholder, Chief Executive Officer, Chairman, and a member of the Board of
Directors of the Company, owns or controls 40.2% of the stock of F&M, while Mr.
Dunlap’s sister, Angela L. Muhleisen, owns or controls 38.6% of such stock. Mr.
Dunlap serves as a director and co-president of F&M. Ms. Muhleisen serves as director
and co-president of F&M and as a director, chairperson, president, and chief executive
officer of Union Bank.  At February 28, 2011, Union Bank beneficially owned 12.2%
of the Company’s common stock.  F&M does not own 5% or more of the Company’s
stock; however, the stock holdings of both Union Bank and F&M are deemed to be
beneficially owned by both Mr. Dunlap and Ms. Muhleisen, respectively.  At February
28, 2011, Mr. Dunlap beneficially owned 34.8% of the Company’s outstanding common
stock and Ms. Muhleisen beneficially owned 18.9% of the Company’s outstanding
common stock.

•Union Financial Services, Inc. – Union Financial Services Inc. (“UFS”) is a corporation
which is owned 50% by Michael S. Dunlap, a significant shareholder, Chief Executive
Officer, Chairman, and a member of the Board of Directors of the Company, and 50%
by Stephen F. Butterfield, Vice Chairman and a member of the Board of Directors of
the Company.

Transactions with Union Bank

The Company has entered into certain contractual arrangements with Union Bank.  These
transactions include:

•Loan sales - During 2008 and 2009, the Company sold $535.4 million (par value) and
$76.4 million (par value), respectively, of FFELP student loans (the “FFELP Loans”) to
Union Bank. The Company recognized a loss of $3.9 million and $0.8 million,
respectively, on these loan sales which represented unamortized loan costs on these
portfolios.  These loans were sold pursuant to an affiliate transaction exemption granted
by the Federal Reserve Board which allowed Union Bank to purchase FFELP loans

Edgar Filing: NEW YORK MORTGAGE TRUST INC - Form 10-Q/A

68



from the Company. In connection with the exemption and the loan purchase by Union
Bank, an Assurance Commitment Agreement (the “Commitment Agreement”) was also
entered into, by and among, the Company, Union Bank, and Mr. Dunlap. Per the terms
of the Commitment Agreement, the Company provided certain assurances to Union
Bank designed to mitigate potential losses related to the FFELP Loans, including
holding amounts in escrow equal to the unguaranteed portion and reimbursing Union
Bank for losses, if any, related to the portfolio.  As part of this agreement, the Company
was also obligated to buy back loans once they were 30 days delinquent.  In 2010 and
2009, the Company bought back from Union Bank $11.7 million (par value) and $36.9
million (par value), respectively, in loans and incurred expenses of $128,000 and
$374,000, respectively, related to this obligation.

In March 2010, the Company purchased $524.2 million (par value) of federally insured
student loans from Union Bank, which represented all outstanding FFELP loans
remaining under the provisions of the Commitment Agreement. As a result of this loan
purchase, the Company no longer has a commitment to hold amounts in escrow,
reimburse Union Bank for losses, and buy back delinquent loans related to this portfolio.
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•Loan purchases – During 2010, the Company purchased $989.2 million (par value) of
FFELP student loans from Union Bank, which includes $535.9 million of loans
purchased under the Commitment Agreement as discussed previously.  No premiums
were paid for these loan purchases.

•Loan servicing – As of December 31, 2010, the Company serviced $530.0 million of
loans for Union Bank. Servicing revenue earned by the Company from this portfolio
was $1.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2010.

•Funding – The Company maintains an agreement with Union Bank, as trustee for various
grantor trusts, under which Union Bank has agreed to purchase from the Company
participation interests in student loans (the “FFELP Participation Agreement”).  The
Company uses this facility as a source to fund FFELP student loans.  The Company has
the option to purchase the participation interests from the grantor trusts at the end of a
364-day period upon termination of the participation certificate.  As of December 31,
2010, $350.4 million of loans were subject to outstanding participation interests held by
Union Bank, as trustee, under this agreement. The agreement automatically renews
annually and is terminable by either party upon five business days notice.  This
agreement provides beneficiaries of Union Bank’s grantor trusts with access to
investments in interests in student loans, while providing liquidity to the Company on a
short term basis.  The Company can participate loans to Union Bank to the extent of
availability under the grantor trusts, up to $750 million or an amount in excess of $750
million if mutually agreed to by both parties.  Loans participated under this agreement
have been accounted for by the Company as loan sales.  Accordingly, the participation
interests sold are not included on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet.

The Company has from time to time repurchased certain of its own asset-backed
securities (bonds and notes payable). For accounting purposes, these notes have been
effectively retired and are not included on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet.
However, these securities are legally outstanding at the trust level and the Company could
sell these notes to third parties or redeem the notes at par as cash is generated by the trust
estate. During 2010, the Company participated $218.7 million of these securities to Union
Bank, as trustee for various grantor trusts, and obtained cash proceeds equal to the par
value of the notes. The Company entered into a Guaranteed Purchase Agreement with
Union Bank whereby it must purchase these notes back from Union Bank at par upon the
request of Union Bank. As of December 31, 2010, $107.1 million of these securities were
outstanding and subject to the participation agreement and are included in “bonds and
notes payable” on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet.

•Operating cash – The majority of the Company’s cash operating bank accounts are
maintained at Union Bank.  The Company also invests cash in the Short term Federal
Investment Trust (“STFIT”) of the Student Loan Trust Division of Union Bank, which the
Company uses as operating cash accounts. As of December 31, 2010, the Company had
$326.9 million deposited at Union Bank in operating accounts or invested in the
STFIT.  Interest income earned from cash deposited in these operating cash accounts
for the year ended December 31, 2010 was $1.1 million.

•529 Plan administration – The Company provides certain 529 Plan administration
services to certain college savings plans (the “College Savings Plans”) through a contract
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with Union Bank, as the program manager. Union Bank is entitled to a fee as program
manager pursuant to its program management agreement with the College Savings
Plans. In 2010, the Company received fees of $5.7 million from Union Bank related to
the Company’s administration services provided to the College Savings Plans.

•Lease arrangement – Union Bank leases space in the Company’s corporate headquarters
building.  During 2010, Union Bank paid the Company approximately $71,000 for rent.

•Other fees paid to Union Bank – During 2010, the Company paid Union Bank
approximately $655,000 for administrative and record keeping services, commissions,
and cash management fees.

•Other fees received from Union Bank – During 2010, the Company received
approximately $165,000 from Union Bank related to an employee sharing arrangement
and for providing health and productivity services.

•Investment services - In December 2010, Union Bank established various trusts
whereby Union Bank serves as trustee for the purpose of purchasing, holding, and
selling investments in student loan asset backed securities. The Company and Union
Bank have both invested money into the trusts.  As of December 31, 2010 and February
28, 2011, the Company had $4.9 million and $22.9 million, respectively, and Union
Bank had $28.6 million and $128.8 million, respectively, invested in the trusts. The
Company and Union Bank employ certain individuals as dual employees and such
employees provide consulting and advisory services to Union Bank as trustee for these
trusts, and Union Bank has agreed to pay the Company for the share of such employees’
salary and payroll based on the value of such services rendered as well as the loss of
value of such dual employees’ services to the Company.
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•Defined contribution plan – Union Bank administers the Company’s 401(k) defined
contribution plan.  Fees paid to Union Bank to administer the plan, approximately
$239,000 in 2010, are paid by the plan’s participants.

•Letter of credit – Union Bank has issued a $125,000 letter of credit for the Company’s
benefit.  Union Bank charged no fee for providing this service.

The net aggregate impact on the Company’s consolidated statements of income for the
year ended December 31, 2010 related to the transactions with Union Bank as described
above was income of approximately $8.2 million.  See note 20 of the notes to the
consolidated financial statements included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
filed with the SEC for the year ended December 31, 2010 for additional information
related to the transactions between the Company and Union Bank.

The Company intends to maintain its relationship with Union Bank, which the Company’s
management believes provides certain benefits to the Company.  Those benefits include
Union Bank’s knowledge of and experience in the FFELP industry, its willingness to
provide services, and at times liquidity and capital resources on an expedient basis, and
the proximity of Union Bank to the Company’s corporate headquarters located in Lincoln,
Nebraska.

The majority of the transactions and arrangements with Union Bank are not offered to
unrelated third parties or subject to competitive bids.  Accordingly, these transactions and
arrangements not only present conflicts of interest, but also pose the risk to the Company’s
shareholders that the terms of such transactions and arrangements may not be as favorable
to the Company as it could receive from unrelated third parties.  Moreover, the Company
may have and/or may enter into contracts and business transactions with related parties
that benefit Mr. Dunlap and his sister, as well as other related parties, that may not benefit
the Company and/or its minority shareholders.

Transactions with Union Financial Services

In December 2007, the Company approved an assignment of a lease to UFS.  The lease
was for approximately 3,100 square feet at a base rent of $23.50 per square foot per
year.  The lease was terminated on August 31, 2010.

The Company owns a 74.753% interest in an aircraft due to the frequent business travel
needs of the Company’s executives and the limited availability of commercial flights in
Lincoln, Nebraska, where the Company’s headquarters are located.  UFS owns the
remaining 25.247% interest in the same aircraft.  The aircraft joint ownership agreement
between the Company and UFS for this aircraft will continue in effect on a month to
month basis until terminated by mutual agreement.  UFS will have the right to require the
Company to purchase UFS’s interest in the aircraft for an amount equal to UFS’s pro rata
portion (determined on the basis of its ownership percentage) of the aircraft’s fair market
value at that time.  If the term of the joint ownership agreement is not extended by
agreement of the Company and UFS, the aircraft must be sold and the net proceeds from
the sale distributed to the Company and UFS in proportion to their ownership
percentages.  Under an aircraft maintenance agreement among the Company, UFS, and an
unrelated aviation service company, a total of approximately $500,000 in management
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fees was paid to the service company in 2010, which amount was allocated to the
Company and UFS based on their respective ownership percentages.  The maintenance
agreement also provides that the Company must pay for all flight operating expenses for
each flight conducted on its behalf, with a corresponding obligation by UFS, and that both
the Company and UFS must pay their pro-rata portion, based on actual use percentages,
of the cost of maintaining the aircraft.

Other Transactions

During 2010, the Company provided group life insurance policies for its employees
through Assurity Life Insurance Company (“Assurity”).  The Company paid Assurity
approximately $330,000 in premiums related to those policies during 2010.  Mr. Henning,
who serves on the Company’s board of directors, is the president and chief executive
officer of Assurity.

In addition to the foregoing, from time to time, the Company, some of the Company’s
executive officers, and some of the members of the Company’s Board of Directors invest
in small or startup companies, often in the Company’s local community.  In some cases,
executive officers of the Company may also serve as members of the Board of Directors
of such companies in connection with the investment. 

The Company and Mr. Dunlap have invested $100,000 and $225,000, respectively, in
Agile Sports, Inc.  Agile Sports, Inc. is located in Lincoln, Nebraska and helps coaches
and players of various sports prepare more efficiently through a web-based platform.  In
March 2011, Mr. Dunlap began serving on the Board of Directors of Agile Sports, Inc. 
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In November 2010, the Company and certain executive officers and board members
invested a total of $1.5 million in Xuba, LLC.  Xuba, LLC is located in Omaha, Nebraska
and offers an innovative social commerce model that delivers a personalized customer
experience to its clients.  The investors and amount invested include the Company ($1.0
million) and certain executive officers and board members ($0.5 million, including
$250,000 invested by UFS and $150,000 by Jeffrey R. Noordhoek, the Company’s
president).   Mr. Noordhoek is a Director of Xuba, LLC.

Neither the Company, the Company’s executive officers, nor members of the Company’s
Board of Directors, individually or in the aggregate, owns a majority interest in any of
these companies.

While the Company does not deem these investments to be related party transactions, the
Company reports investment activity of this type to the Board of Directors.

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

Report of the Board Audit Committee

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors (the “Committee”) is responsible for the
oversight of the integrity of the Company’s consolidated financial statements, the
Company’s system of internal control over financial reporting, the Company’s policy
standards and guidelines for risk assessment and risk management, the qualifications and
independence of the Company’s independent auditor, the performance of the Company’s
internal and independent auditors, and the Company’s compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements. The Committee has the sole authority and responsibility to
select, determine the compensation of, evaluate, and, when appropriate, replace the
Company’s independent auditor.  The Committee is currently comprised of three
independent directors and operates under a written charter adopted by the Board, a copy
of which is available at www.nelnetinvestors.com.  The Board has determined that each
Committee member is independent under the standards of director independence
established under the Company’s Corporate Governance Guidelines and the New York
Stock Exchange listing requirements and is also independent under applicable
independence standards of the Exchange Act.

The Committee serves in an oversight capacity and is not part of the Company’s
managerial or operational decision-making process.  Management is responsible for the
financial reporting process, including the system of internal controls, for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and for the report on the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting.  The Company’s independent auditor, KPMG LLP, is responsible for auditing
those financial statements and expressing an opinion as to their conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles and for expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.  The Committee’s responsibility is to
oversee the financial reporting process and to review and discuss management’s report on
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.  The Committee relies, without
independent verification, on the information provided to it and on the representations
made by management, the internal auditor, and the independent auditor.
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The Committee held nine meetings during 2010.  The Committee, among other things:

•Reviewed and discussed the Company’s earnings releases, Quarterly Reports on form
10-Q, and Annual Report on form 10-K, including the consolidated financial statements

• Reviewed and discussed the Company’s policies and procedures for risk
assessment and risk management and the major risk exposures of the
Company and its business units, as appropriate

• Reviewed and discussed the annual plan and the scope of the work of the
internal auditor for fiscal 2010 and summaries of the reports to management
by the internal auditor

•Reviewed and discussed the annual plan and scope of the work of the independent
auditor

•Reviewed and discussed reports from management on the Company’s policies regarding
applicable legal and regulatory requirements

• Met with KPMG LLP, the internal auditor, and Company management in
separate executive sessions

31

Edgar Filing: NEW YORK MORTGAGE TRUST INC - Form 10-Q/A

75



The Committee reviewed and discussed the audited consolidated financial statements for
the year ended December 31, 2010 with management, the internal auditor, and KPMG
LLP.  The Committee reviewed and discussed the critical accounting policies as set forth
in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, management’s annual report on the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting, and KPMG LLP’s opinion on the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting.  The Committee also discussed
with management and the internal auditor the process used to support certifications by the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer that are required by the
SEC and the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 to accompany the Company’s periodic filings
with the SEC and the processes used to support management’s annual report on the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

The Committee discussed with KPMG LLP matters that independent accounting firms
must discuss with audit committees under generally accepted auditing standards and
standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, including, among other
things, matters related to the conduct of the audit of the Company’s consolidated financial
statements and the matters required to be discussed by Statement on Auditing Standards
No. 114 (The Auditor’s Communication With Those Charged With Governance).  This
review included a discussion with management and KPMG LLP as to the quality (not
merely the acceptability) of the Company’s accounting principles, the reasonableness of
significant estimates and judgments, and the disclosures within the Company’s
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures relating to critical accounting
policies.

KPMG LLP also provided to the Committee the written disclosures and the letter required
by applicable requirements of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
regard ing  KPMG LLP’s  communica t ions  wi th  the  Commit tee  concern ing
independence.  The Committee discussed with KPMG LLP their independence from the
Company.  When considering KPMG LLP’s independence, the Committee considered if
services they provided to the Company beyond those rendered in connection with their
audit of the Company’s consolidated financial statements, reviews of the Company’s
interim condensed consolidated financial statements included in its Quarterly Reports on
Form 10-Q, and their opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting were compatible with maintaining their independence.  The Committee
also reviewed and pre-approved, among other things, the audit, audit-related, and tax
services performed by KPMG LLP.  For tax services, the pre-approval included
discussion with KPMG LLP concerning their independence as required by the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board Rule 3524 (Audit Committee Pre-approval of
Certain Tax Services). The Committee received regular updates on the amount of fees and
scope of audit, audit-related, and tax services provided.

Based on the Committee’s review and these meetings, discussions, and reports, and subject
to the limitations on the Committee’s role and responsibilities referred to previously and in
the Audit Committee Charter, the Committee recommended to the Board that the
Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31,
2010 be included in the Company’s 2010 Annual Report on Form 10-K for filing with the
SEC.
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The Committee has also selected KPMG LLP as the Company’s independent auditor for
the year ending December 31, 2011 and is presenting the selection to the shareholders for
ratification.

Respectfully submitted,

Brian J. O’Connor, Chairman
Kathleen A. Farrell
Thomas E. Henning

PROPOSAL 2 – RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT
REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Audit Committee selects the Company’s independent registered public accounting
firm.  This proposal is put before the shareholders because the Board believes that it is
good corporate practice to seek shareholder ratification of the selection of the independent
registered public accounting firm.  If the appointment of KPMG LLP is not ratified, the
Audit Committee will evaluate the basis for the shareholders’ vote when determining
whether to continue the firm’s engagement.

The Board of Directors of the Company recommends a vote FOR the ratification of the
appointment of KPMG LLP as the independent registered public accounting firm for
2011.

The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares of common stock present or
represented and entitled to be voted at the Annual Meeting is required to ratify the
appointment of KPMG LLP.  Unless marked to the contrary, proxies will be voted FOR
the ratification of the appointment of KPMG LLP as the independent registered public
accounting firm for 2011.
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Representatives of KPMG LLP are expected to attend the Annual Meeting and to respond
to appropriate questions from shareholders present at the meeting and will have an
opportunity to make a statement if they desire to do so.

Independent Accountant Fees and Services

Aggregate fees for professional services rendered by KPMG LLP for the years ended
December 31, 2010 and 2009 are set forth below.

2010 2009
Audit fees $577,309 634,461

Audit-related fees 1,105,595 1,014,384

Tax fees 168,582 129,948

All other fees 1,500 1,500

Total $1,852,986 1,780,293

Audit fees were for professional services rendered for the audits of the consolidated
financial statements of the Company and subsidiary audits, the audit on the effectiveness
of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting, and consents.

Audit-related fees were for assurance and other services related to service provider
compliance reports, employee benefit plan audits, agreed-upon procedures, and
consultations concerning financial accounting and reporting standards.

Tax fees were for services related to tax compliance and planning.

All other fees represent the amount paid by the Company for access to an on-line
accounting and tax reference tool.

The Audit Committee’s pre-approval policy and procedures are outlined in its charter.  The
Audit Committee has the sole authority to appoint, retain, and terminate the Company's
independent auditor, which reports directly to the Audit Committee.   The Audit
Committee is directly responsible for the evaluation, compensation (including as to fees
and terms), and oversight of the work of the Company's independent auditor (including
resolution of disagreements between management and the independent auditor regarding
fi−nancial reporting) for the purpose of preparing or issuing an audit report or performing
other audit, review, or attestation services for the Company.   All related fees and costs of
the independent auditor, as determined by the Audit Committee, are paid promptly by the
Company in accordance with its normal business practices.  All auditing services and
permitted non-audit services performed for the Company by the independent auditor,
including the services described above, are pre-approved by the Audit Committee, subject
to applicable laws, rules, and regulations.  The Audit Committee may form and delegate
to a subcommittee the authority to grant pre-approvals with respect to auditing services
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and permitted non-auditing services, provided that any such grant of pre-approval shall be
reported to the full Audit Committee at its next meeting.

PROPOSAL 3 - ADVISORY VOTE ON EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, enacted in July 2010,
requires that the Company provide its shareholders with the opportunity to vote to
approve, on a nonbinding, advisory basis, the compensation of the Company’s Named
Executives Officers as disclosed in this Proxy Statement in accordance with the
compensation disclosure rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission. The Company
is therefore providing its shareholders with the opportunity to cast an advisory vote on
executive compensation as described below. The Company believes that it is appropriate
to seek the views of shareholders on the design and effectiveness of the Company’s
executive compensation program.

As described in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis section of this Proxy
Statement, the Company’s objective for its executive compensation program is to attract,
motivate and retain executives who will contribute to the Company’s long-term success
and the creation of shareholder value.  The Company seeks to accomplish this objective in
a way that rewards performance and is aligned with its shareholders’ long-term interests,
and the Company’s compensation programs are designed to reward the Named Executive
Officers for the achievement of short-term and long-term strategic and operational goals
and the achievement of increased shareholder return, while at the same time avoiding the
encouragement of unnecessary or excessive risk-taking.

The framework and executive compensation philosophy are established by an
independent Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. The following items
reflect our commitment to pay for performance and to maintain a strong executive
compensation governance framework:
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•Incentive plans that are based upon targets that are approved annually by the
Compensation Committee.

•The peer group of companies used to benchmark executive compensation levels is
carefully selected and reviewed.

•An annual risk assessment conducted by the Compensation Committee to evaluate
whether incentive programs drive behaviors that are demonstrably within the risk
management parameters it deems prudent.

• A robust share ownership and retention policy.

The Compensation Discussion and Analysis and the compensation tables and disclosures
provided in this Proxy Statement describe the Company’s executive compensation
program in more detail, and discuss the following key elements of the program:

•Mr. Dunlap’s salary as Chief Executive Officer is $500,000 per year and has not been
increased since 2006, and his annual performance-based incentive opportunity will not
exceed an additional $500,000.

•Mr. Dunlap beneficially owns 16.8 million shares, or 34.8%, of the Company’s
outstanding Class A and Class B common stock, which significantly aligns his interests
with the shareholders’ interests.

•None of the Named Executive Officers has an employment agreement or severance
arrangement. In addition, the Company generally does not provide any perquisites, tax
reimbursements, or change in control benefits to the Named Executive Officers that are
not available to other employees.

•Each of the Named Executive Officers is employed at-will and is expected to
demonstrate exceptional personal performance in order to continue serving as a member
of the executive team.

The Company believes the compensation program for the Named Executive Officers is
instrumental in helping the Company achieve its strong financial performance, and is
asking shareholders to approve the compensation of the Company’s Named Executive
Officers as disclosed in this Proxy Statement, including in the Compensation Discussion
and Analysis, the compensation tables, and the narrative disclosures that accompany the
compensation tables.

The vote on this proposal is not intended to address any specific element of
compensation; rather, the vote relates to the compensation of our Named Executive
Officers, as described in this Proxy Statement in accordance with the compensation
disclosure rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission.  As an advisory vote, the
vote on this proposal is not binding upon the Company, the Board of Directors, or the
Compensation Committee. However, the Compensation Committee, which is responsible
for designing and administering the Company’s executive compensation program, values
the opinions expressed by shareholders in their vote on this proposal and will consider the
outcome of the vote when making future compensation decisions for Named Executive
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Officers.

Accordingly, the Company’s shareholders are asked to vote on the following resolution at
the Annual Meeting:

“RESOLVED, that the Company's shareholders approve, on an advisory basis, the
compensation of the Named Executive Officers, as disclosed in the Company's Proxy
Statement for the 2011 Annual Meeting of Shareholders pursuant to the compensation
disclosure rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission, including the Compensation
Discussion and Analysis, the 2010 Summary Compensation Table, and the other related
tables and disclosure.”

The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR the approval of the compensation of the
Company’s Named Executive Officers, as disclosed in this Proxy Statement.

PROPOSAL 4 – ADVISORY VOTE ON THE FREQUENCY OF AN ADVISORY VOTE
ON EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act also provides that
shareholders must be given the opportunity to vote, on a non-binding, advisory basis, for
their preference as to how frequently the Company should seek future advisory votes on
the compensation of its Named Executive Officers as disclosed in accordance with the
compensation disclosure rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission, which the
Company refers to as an advisory vote on executive compensation.  By voting with
respect to this Proposal 4, shareholders may indicate whether they would prefer that the
Company conduct future advisory votes on executive compensation once every one, two,
or three years.  Shareholders also may, if they wish, abstain from casting a vote on this
proposal.
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The Company’s Board of Directors has determined that an advisory vote every year on
executive compensation will allow the Company’s shareholders to provide timely, direct
input on the Company's executive compensation philosophy, policies, and practices as
disclosed in the proxy statement each year.

As an advisory vote, this proposal is not binding upon the Company or the Board of
Directors in any way. However, the Board of Directors and the Compensation Committee,
which is responsible for designing and administering the Company’s executive
compensation program, value the opinions expressed by shareholders in their vote on this
proposal and will consider the outcome of the vote when making future decisions as to the
frequency of future advisory votes on executive compensation.  The Board of Directors
may decide that it is in the best interests of the shareholders and the Company to hold an
advisory vote on executive compensation more or less frequently than the frequency
receiving the most votes cast by the shareholders.

Shareholders may cast a vote on the preferred future advisory vote frequency by selecting
the option of one year, two years, or three years (or abstain) when voting in response to
the resolution set forth below.

“RESOLVED, that the shareholders determine, on an advisory basis, whether the preferred
frequency of an advisory vote on the executive compensation of the Company’s Named
Executive Officers as set forth in the Company’s proxy statement should be every year,
every two years, or every three years.”

Shareholders have the opportunity to choose among four options (holding the vote every
one, two or three years, or abstaining) and, therefore, shareholders will not be voting to
approve or disapprove the recommendation of the Board of Directors.

The Board of Directors recommends that shareholders vote for the option of EVERY
ONE YEAR (as opposed to every two years or every three years) as the preferred
frequency for advisory votes on executive compensation.

OTHER SHAREHOLDER MATTERS

Householding

Under SEC rules, we are allowed to send in a single envelope our Notice of Internet
Availability of Proxy Materials or a single copy of our proxy solicitation and other
required annual meeting materials to two or more shareholders sharing the same
address.  We may do this only if the shareholders at that address share the same last name
or if we reasonably believe that the shareholders are members of the same family or
group.  If we are sending a Notice, the envelope must contain a separate Notice for each
shareholder at the shared address.  Each Notice must also contain a unique control number
that each shareholder will use to gain access to our proxy materials and vote online.  If we
are mailing a paper copy of our proxy materials, the rules require us to send each
shareholder at the shared address a separate proxy card.

We believe these rules are beneficial to both our shareholders and to us.  Our printing and
postage costs are lowered anytime we eliminate duplicate mailings to the same
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household.  However, shareholders at a shared address may revoke their consent to the
householding program and receive their Notice in a separate envelope, or, if they have
elected to receive a full copy of our proxy materials in the mail, receive a separate copy of
these materials. If you receive a single set of proxy materials but prefer to receive separate
copies for each registered account in your household, please contact our agent,
Broadridge, at: 1-800-542-1061, or in writing at: Broadridge Householding Department,
51 Mercedes Way, Edgewood, New York 11717. Broadridge will remove you from the
householding program within 30 days of receipt of your request, following which you will
begin receiving an individual copy of the material.

You can also contact Broadridge at the phone number above if you received multiple
copies of the proxy materials and would prefer to receive a single copy in the future.

Other Business

On the date that this Proxy Statement is first made available to shareholders, the Board of
Directors has no knowledge of any other matter which will come before the Annual
Meeting other than the matters described herein. However, if any such matter is properly
presented at the Annual Meeting, the proxy solicited hereby confers discretionary
authority to the proxies to vote in their sole discretion with respect to such matters, as well
as other matters incident to the conduct of the Annual Meeting.

Shareholder Proposals for 2012 Annual Meeting

Shareholder proposals intended to be presented at the 2012 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders, currently scheduled for May 24, 2012, must be received at the Company’s
offices at 121 South 13th Street, Suite 201, Lincoln, Nebraska 68508, Attention:
Corporate Secretary, on or before December 16, 2011, to be eligible for inclusion in the
Company's 2012 proxy materials.  The inclusion of any such proposal in such proxy
materials shall be subject to the requirements of the proxy rules adopted under the
Exchange Act, (the “Proxy Rules”).  The submission of a shareholder proposal does not
guarantee that it will be included in the Company’s Proxy Statement.
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A shareholder may otherwise propose business for consideration or nominate persons for
election to the Board of Directors, in compliance with federal proxy rules, applicable state
law, and other legal requirements and without seeking to have the proposal included in the
Company’s Proxy Statement pursuant to the Proxy Rules.  The Company’s By-Laws
provide that the Secretary of the Company must receive any such proposal or nominations
for the Company’s 2012 Annual Meeting between January 25 and February 24, 2012 (90
to 120 days before the 2012 Annual Meeting date).  The notice must contain the
information required by the Company’s By-Laws.  A proxy may confer discretionary
authority to vote on any matter at a meeting if the Company does not receive notice of the
matter within the time frame described above. A copy of the Company’s By-Laws is
available at the Company’s Web site at www.nelnetinvestors.com under “Corporate
Governance” – “Corporate Documents” or is available upon request to:  Nelnet, Inc., 121
South 13th Street, Suite 201, Lincoln, Nebraska 68508, Attention: Corporate
Secretary.  The Chairman of the meeting may exclude matters that are not properly
presented in accordance with these requirements.

MISCELLANEOUS

The information referred to under the captions “Compensation Committee Report,” and
“Audit Committee Report” (to the extent permitted under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended (the “1933 Act”)) (i) shall not be deemed to be “soliciting material” or to be “filed”
with the SEC or subject to Regulation 14A or the liabilities of Section 18 of the Exchange
Act, and (ii) notwithstanding anything to the contrary that may be contained in any filing
by the Company under the Exchange Act or the 1933 Act, shall not be deemed to be
incorporated by reference in any such filing.
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